Aus der Frauenklinik der Universitätsklinik der Heinrich-Heine Universität Düsseldorf Direktor: Prof. Dr. W. Janni

## Molecular classification of high risk breast cancer as predictor of benefit from dose intensification of adjuvant chemotherapy: Results of randomized WSG AM-01 trial.

**Dissertation** 

zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Medizin Der Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

vorgelegt von

Oleg Gluz

Als Inauguraldissertation gedruckt mit Genehmigung des Medizinischen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf Gez.: Univ.-Prof. Joachim Windolf Dekan

> Referent: Prof. Dr. U. Nitz Korreferent: Univ.-Prof. W. Janni

## Table of contents

1. Introduction	5
1.1. Overview	5
1.2. Prognosis of patients with high risk breast cancer	6
1.3. Principles of adjuvant chemotherapy	7
1.4. Results from trials with high-dose and dose-dense regimens in HRBC	8
1.5. Predictive factors	10
1.6. Molecular basis of disease	11
2. Methods	13
2.1. Patients	13
2.2. Treatment	13
2.3. Prognostic factors and histopathological analysis	15
2.3.1. Tumor samples	15
2.3.2. Tissue microarrays and antibodies for immunohistochemistry	15
2.3.3. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)	16
2.3.5. Immunohistochemistry scoring	19
2.4. Statistical analysis	20
3. Results	22
3.1. Patient population	22
3.2. Patient outcome according to study arm	23
3.3. Correlation of prognostic factors	25
3.4. Protein expression analysis	25
3.5. Identification of protein clusters	27
3.6. Distribution of molecular subtypes	29
3.7. Survival analysis according to molecular classification	29
3.8. Correlation of basal-like subtype and triple-negative status of tumors	30
3.9. Patient outcome according to conventional prognostic factors and molecula	ır
subtypes	31
3.9.1. Therapy effect in subgroups by conventional markers	32
3.9.2. Therapy efficacy in molecular subtypes	37
3.10. Adjuvant therapy interactions in multivariate analysis	38
4. Discussion	40
4.1. Dose and schedule of chemotherapy in HRBC	40
4.2. Prognostic and predictive factors	43

4.2.2. Molecular classification	44
4.2.3. Correlation of triple-negative/basal-like subtype	49
4.2.3. Prognosis	51
4.2.4. Prediction	52
4.3. Role of triple negativity and basal-like subtype as predictive factor	rs54
4.4. Conclusions	61
5. References	63
6. Acknowledgements	78
7. Curriculum vitae	79
8. Summary	86

## 1. Introduction

## 1.1. Overview

Breast cancer (BC) is the most common female cancer. More than 1 mio. women per year are affected worldwide by this diagnosis and 400.000 patients per year die from it. In Germany there are about 47.000 new cases/year with annual mortality rate of about 17.000[1]. However the mortality and incidence in developed countries has decreased in the past 5 years due to implementation of screening, improvement of adjuvant systemic treatments and decreasing use of hormone replacement therapy (HRT)[2], but the incidence of breast cancer worldwide is still increasing.

Multiple factors, such as family history, genetic mutation (e.g. BRCA 1 or 2), early menarche (<12 years old) or late menopause (>54 years old), late first pregnancy (after 40 years old), exogenous (e.g. hormone replacement therapy) or endogenous (body mass index >25 in the menopause) female hormones, benign breast diseases (e.g. epithelial hyperplasia) radiation or environmental factors are playing a crucial role in the development of the BC[3]. Most breast cancers have invasive ductal histology and have their origin in ducts of the mammary gland. Other subtypes are invasive lobular, medullary, papillary and others..

Although there are many well known preneoplastic lesions, which are described in breast cancer, like ductal or lobular carcinoma in situ (DCIS or LCIS), atypical ductal atypia (equal to low-grade DCIS) and others [4], There is still no widely established model of carcinogenesis for breast cancer and discussion about stem cell or stochastic development of invasive breast cancer is still ongoing. Figure 1. displays only one of many possibilities of breast cancer appearance, as proposed by Beckmann et al.[5]

Fig. 1. Carcinogenesis of breast cancer



Prognosis of breast cancer patients is dependent on several clinical-pathological prognostic markers, such as tumor size, number of involved lymph nodes, nuclear grade, age. Molecular features, such as UPA-1/PAI, hormone and Her-2/neu receptor status are critical determinants of long term survival. They provide classification of breast cancer in three prognosis groups (low, intermediate and high risk), which guide adjuvant therapy in Europe[6] (St. Gallen Criteria).

## 1.2. Prognosis of patients with high risk breast cancer

Patients with multiple positive lymph nodes have a very poor prognosis. The average annual mortality rates in patients with  $\geq$ 10 involved lymph nodes (LN) are five times higher than for N0 patients[7].

A retrospective study from two academic institutions have identified the 15-year diseasefree survival (DFS) without application of adjuvant therapy for the subgroup with >10 positive lymph nodes as 17%, this result could be improved by adjuvant athracyclinebased chemotherapy and tamoxifen by 10%[8]. Similar data could be obtained from the Natural History Database, this contains information on 1199 T1/T2 tumors with >10 metastatic lymph nodes treated only by surgery. The 5-year DFS and OS rates were estimated by 29% and 44% respectively[9]. A second study investigated the prognosis of 1401 patients with similar characetristics, who did not receive any systemic therapy. 5year OS rates were presented for 3 groups by the number of affected lymph nodes: (11-15 LN) 55%, (16-20) 48% and (>21) 39%, respectively[10].

Generally an adjuvant poly-chemotherapy improves breast cancer outcome in terms of both relapse by 23% and mortality by 17%, [11], but subgroup analysis from randomized trials shows that in this high-risk subgroup few standard anthracycline-based regimens achieve 5-year EFS exceeding 40-52%[12-14].

Taxane-based combinations may improve 5-year DFS by further 5% and OS by 3%, as shown by a review of 13 randomized trials[15]. Although no groups with more or less benefit could be identified by the meta-analysis, the impact from taxanes in the HRBC subgroup remains unclear on the basis of published retrospective, unplanned subgroup analyses from trials evaluating third-generation taxane combinations. Both positive for overall survival (OS) trials have found no benefit for sequential or concomitant taxane-based therapy in these patients[16, 17] compared with the most pronounced advantage in the group with 1-3 positive LN. Only one phase II trial (n=61 patients) investigated the impact of taxane based ET-CMF chemotherapy in 61 patients with >10 LN and found 5-year DFS of 60%[18].

#### 1.3. Principles of adjuvant chemotherapy

The relapse-free survival (RFS) of adjuvant treated breast cancer (BC) is determined by (1) the size of subclinical residual tumor burden (RTB) and (2) growth curve trajectory for the residual tumor in that patient. The RTB in by adjuvant therapy treated patients depends further at RTB after surgery (it would mean, that patients with more involved LN's have also subsequently more micrometastasis), dose and schedule of treatment and sensitivity of tumor cells to treatment[19].

Preclinical experiments have identified, that anticancer effect of chemotherapy is dependent on a dose-response relationship. It would mean, that greater tumor burden also requires higher doses of chemotherapy due to log-kill hypothesis investigating in murine leukemia cells (L1210) by Skipper and Slabel, which builds a basis for modern principles of adjuvant chemotherapy in cancer[20].

This hypothesis has been supported in breast cancer by clinical data of Peters et al, published 1993[21]., At the same time several clinical studies have shown, that this dose-response curve is not linear. It means, that clinical benefit doesn't rise consistently and proportionately in response to escalated doses, but is dependent on the growth fraction of tumor, which is not so linear, as proposed by Skipper and Slabel, but rather it follows

Gomperthezian growth function, describing a more rapid growth in smaller tumors and slower in greater tumor size, reaching a plateau (but in most cases after lethal excess), as described by Norton and Simon in 1986[22].

In conclusion it could be stated, that dose size (to reduce number of residual tumor burden, possible resistant to doses of chemotherapy administrated with normal ranges) and dose dense (to reduce the time for tumor re-growth between cycles of chemotherapy and subsequently to profit from relatively faster tumor re-growth of smaller number of tumor cells, which is the working point of chemotherapy) are both critical determinates of clinical chemotherapeutical effect.

#### 1.4. Results from trials with high-dose and dose-dense regimens in HRBC.

Dose size and density are critical variables of chemotherapy, that is based on log-kill hypothesis by Skipper and Slabel, [20]where dose-response relationship is described as greater tumor burden needing higher doses of chemotherapy. This hypothesis has been supported by Peters et al. data who have presented very impressive short-time event free survival (EFS) of 72% after 2,5 years of median follow up after high-dose chemotherapy (HD) with autologous bone marrow transplantation[21] in patients with HRBC, so that a number of randomized trials investigating a HD in HRBC as single shot (consolidations principle like in leukemia) have been planned in mid 1990-s. It will be intensively discussed, whether linear or Gomperthezian growth curve of tumor cells and related therapeutical efficacy are playing the most important role in outcome of patients[22].

Up to now, findings from the trials investigating the effects of HD with stem cell or autologous bone marrow support in this high-risk group remain controversial. Designs of investigated approaches and patient's selection criteria are different in these trials.

Some studies investigated a classical "phase III design" comparing a single HD with some kind of actual standard. Rodenhuis et al compared 5 cycles of FEC followed by single course of HD (CTCb) or one further cycle of FEC in 885 patients with more than 4 positive lymph nodes and have shown a non-significant trend to better efficacy of HD in terms of DFS and OS. The prospectively predefined subgroup of patients with more than 10 lymph nodes had a significant benefit from HD[13]. Roche et al compared 4xFEC followed by single HD (CMA) or no further treatment in 314 patients with >7 involved LN. This study has shown a significant improvement of DFS for HD group after 3,25 years of median follow up[23]. The second German group headed by Axel Zander compared 4xEC

followed by one cycle of HD or 3 cycles of CMF in patients with more than 10 positive LN with a non-significant advantage for HD group in terms of both DFS and OS after 6 years of follow up[24]. 6 cycles of CEF followed by single STAMP V cycle or no treatment were compared by Tallmann et al. in 511 HRBC patients[14]. This study, marked by a very high protocol violation rate of 23%, displayed non-significant better EFS in the HD arm and comparable OS rates after 6 years of median follow up. Further two studies of Leonard et al. (4xE-8xCMF vs. 4xE-1 cycle HD (C-CT) in 605 patients with more than 4 LN)[25] and of Coombes et al. (6xCEF vs. 3xCEF-1 cycle of CTCb in 281 HRBC patients with >4 positive LN)[26] have shown similar DFS and OS rates in both study arms.

Second group of trials compared HD regimens with dose-intensive standards. The Scandinavian trial compared after a standard anthracycline induction a single STAMP V HD course versus individually (according to WBC count) escalated FEC in 525 HRBC patients with 4,3 times higher single doses of anthracyclines in the control arm. DFS is in favour of the control arm and OS rates are comparable after 5 years of median follow up[27]. An Intergroup study leaded by Peters investigated two dose levels of an identical combination the one given as an dose intensified standard the other given with stem cell support in 785 HRBC patients after an identical induction. A very high therapy related lethality of 9% makes therapeutical considerations very difficult. EFS rates after 7,3 years of median follow up are in favor of HD arm, OS rates are comparable[28].

Other trials like our and IBCSG used a multicycle high dose approach in HRBC patients compared with antracycline-based standard dose or dose dense (Dd) therapy. Basser et al. investigated conventional 4xEC followed by 3xCMF vs. 3 cycles of HD (HD-EC) in 344 HRBC patients. They have shown a significant benefit in DFS for patients with more than 10 LN after 5,8 years of median follow up[29]. Up to now, our previously reported WSG-AM-01 is the only study demonstrating that the tandem HD arm q3w after 2 DD cycles EC 2qw compared to DD EC/CMF q2w therapy was significantly associated with reduced risk of both relapse and death[30] after 48,5 months of median follow up in 403 patients with >9 positive LN. This trial incorporated both early dose-intensification and dose-dense concepts of adjuvant chemotherapy within the experimental arm.

Recently presented meta-analysis of 15 trials in 6210 patients after 6.2 years of median follow up indicates only a little non-significant benefit of HD in term of overall survival (p=0.12), breast cancer specific survival (p=0.1) and a modest but significant benefit in RFS (p<0.001)[31].

At the same time several trials have shown no additional benefit for simple dose intensification of single agents. So NSBAP B-22 and B-25 have shown no statistically significant additional benefit from dose intensification of cyclophosphamide beyond 600 mg/m<sup>2</sup> (1200 and 2400 mg/m<sup>2</sup>)[32, 33]. Cancer and Leukemia Group B 8541 trial have previously reported no additional clinical effect of increasing anthracycline dose by 50% (from 60 mg/m<sup>2</sup> to 90 mg/m<sup>2</sup>)[34]. But the dose of 60 mg/m<sup>2</sup> has been shown as superior to 30 and 40 mg/m<sup>2</sup> in CALGB B 8541[35]. However numerous trials indicated the dose of anthracyclines of 100 mg/m<sup>2</sup> to be superior to lower doses of 50 and 60 mg/m<sup>2</sup> respectively[36, 37], particularly in patients with more than 4 positive lymph nodes[36]. In reference to the DD chemotherapy there are several published trials, which indicate benefit for DD concept in early breast cancer. So, CALGB 9741 has shown a significant benefit for 2-weeks schedule (EC- Taxol) over 3-weeks in terms of both DFS and OS in women with node-positive BC[38]. Moebus et al. reported a significant benefit for dosedense (q2w) and -intensive ETC vs. conventional EC-Taxol q3w in patients with >4 LN for both DFS and OS after 5 years of median follow up[39]. Venturini et al. have compared 6xCEF every 3 weeks versus the same regimen administrated every 2 weeks in nodepositive or high risk node-negative BC. After median follow up of 10.4 years there is a non-significant trend to better both DFS and OS within the dose-dense arm, where unfortunately a low dose 60 mg/m<sup>2</sup> epirubicine was used[40]. Very interesting, recently published first results of MA 21 trial provide evidence, that dose-intensive FEC is similarly effective as dose-dense EC-Taxol after 30,4 months of median follow up in 2011 patients with node-positive or high risk node negative BC. Both regimens were significantly more effective as conventional EC-Taxol every 3 weeks[41].

#### 1.5. Predictive factors

However EBCTG analysis has addressed the most impact of adjuvant chemotherapy to younger patients with HR negative disease (the 5-year gains from CT would be about twice as large for HR-poor disease as they are for tamoxifen-treated HR-positive disease)[11]. Berry et al. reported a meta-analysis from three CALGB trials and showed 55% reduction of recurrence and death rate in node-positive, HR-negative patients for 2-week EC-T schedule, compared with low-dose CAF, used in the first 8541 study. For similar HR positive tumors, the risk reduction was only 26%. Older patients seem to have the same benefit from adjuvant CT in the later published analysis from the same database[42].

In the HD setting the discussion about predictive markers seems to be more complex. Published trial designs are very heterogeneous in terms of regimens, HD strategy, control arms, and patient selection criteria. To date, the predictive value of established prognostic factors such as grade, estrogen receptor (ER), tumor size, Her-2/neu or age is still under debate. All subgroup analysis from the trials are of retrospective and unplanned nature. Younger age of patients [13, 24, 28, 30, 43], HR positive[13, 29, 44] or negative[30] disease, Her-2/neu negative status[45], p-53 overexperession[45, 46] are possible markers of particular benefit from HD, but there is no consensus about their value. Considering the heterogeneity of the published data, facts of scientific manipulations in this field, costs and toxicity of this therapy, the aim should now be to identify promising HD strategies and biological tumor subtypes deriving maximum benefit from HD.

#### 1.6. Molecular basis of disease

There is increasing evidence that breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease and will be classified in distinct biological subgroups implicating significantly different prognosis.

Gene expression studies based on DNA-microarray analysis have enabled molecular subtyping of breast tumors with distinct patterns of proliferation, apoptosis, and DNA-repair as well as with distinct prognostic implications[47]. Two major subtypes of breast cancer were noted on the expression levels of 496 cDNA's (an intrinsic gene subset). The first subtype contained tumors that were clinically described as ER positive, and the second by tumors that were mostly ER negative. The ER positive tumors were distinguished by the relatively high expression of genes of breast luminal cells, whereas ER negative were characterized by the gene expression of basal/myoepithelial cells. The latter group was subdivided into three different groups, basal-like, erbB2 positive and normal breast-like.

Luminal A, hormone receptor high expressing tumors have better prognosis than luminal B tumors. Her-2/neu and triple-negative (ER-/PR-/Her-2/neu-) /basal-like subtypes have worse outcome, compared with both luminal subtypes. Follow up studies have shown these subtypes to be conserved across diverse patient collectives and array or protein expression platforms. In the same time diverse supervised gene expression based predictors of survival, as supervised variable where developed[48, 49] with only single genes as overlap between signatures. Recently published study by Fan et al. identified similar pathways in all used signatures and has shown a significant agreement between molecular classification and gene prognostic tools in predicting patients outcome. Basal-

like and Her-2/neu subtypes where presented by high risk genomic signatures in both 70 gene Amsterdam signature and 21 Recurrence Score[50].

Among the subtypes basal-like/triple negative breast cancer has drawn particular attention, because of possible absent treatment options beside of chemotherapy, what makes the management of triple-negative tumors a clinical challenge, due to limited therapeutic options in this subtype. Approximately 15%-25% of breast cancer are basal-like and are associated with poor survival[51, 52]. A recent published study has shown that this subtype is more frequent among African American women, which may contribute to the poor outcome in this collective. Hereditary BRCA-1 breast cancers also resemble sporadic basal-like tumors[53, 54] and are mitotically active high-grade tumors, expressing cytokeratines 5 /17 and EGFR, and associated with younger patient age[55]. The triple-negative breast cancer are associated with higher risk of early distant recurrence[56], particularly visceral metastasis[37, 57]. There are controversial data on the loco regional relapse risk in triple-negative BC[57, 58].

But the optimal distribution of triple-negative (characterized by ER/PR/Ner-2/neu negative phenotype) and basal-like (based on microarray data or multiple protein expression sets) remains unclear.

Recent studies suggest higher chemosensitivity of this subgroup to neoadjuvant chemotherapy[59, 60], associated with pCR rates of 27%[60] to 45%[59] to standard anthracycline/taxane based neoadjuvant chemotherapy compared with only 6% in luminal tumors.

However those triple-negative breast cancers, which did not have complete response, had the highest rate of relapse. In the recent study from the MD Anderson Cancer Center 255 patients treated by neoadjuvant chemotherapy had higher pCR rates (22% vs 11%) than 863 patients with non-TN tumors, but significantly decreased DFS and OS rates. If pCR could be achieved there were no survival differences between both subgroups[58, 60].

Currently, there is only limited experience with regard to the response of molecular subtypes to different cytotoxic therapies[59], but ER and growth factor such as Her-2/neu and EGFR play a key role in both molecular classification of breast cancer[61] and in prediction of chemotherapy effects[11, 42, 62].

The aim of our study was to evaluate the benefits from HD in clinically relevant subgroups, particularly triple negative patients, utilizing tumor samples from a

retrospective, central-pathological blinded review with updated follow-up of the randomized prospective WSG AM 01 trial in HRBC.

## 2. Methods

## 2.1. Patients

Patients included in our analysis participated in the randomized multicenter WSG-AM01 trial, which compared tandem HD versus DD conventional chemotherapy. Eligible patients were 18 to 60 years old with Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group performance status less than 2, had histologically proven breast cancer and  $\geq$ 9 positive axillary LN. Breast-conserving surgery or mastectomy, both with free margins, and resection of at least ten axillary lymph nodes was required before randomisation. Absence of distant metastases was verified by normal findings in chest X-ray, liver ultrasonography, and bone scan. An inadequate psychological cardiac, pulmonary, hepatic, renal and haematopietic functions, serum bilirubin concentration more than  $34\cdot 2 \mod L$ , serum creatinine concentration out the normal range (as defined by each institution), leucocyte count less than  $3\cdot 5_{109/L}$ , and platelet count than  $100_{109/L}$  were exclusion criteria, as well as a history of previous cancer other than cervical carcinoma-in-situ or basal-cell carcinoma or other serious disease or uncontrolled infection.

## 2.2. Treatment

Patients were assigned either two cycles of epirubicin and cyclophosphamide followed by tandem epirubicin and cyclophosphamide plus thiotepa with autologous peripheral-blood-progenitor support (high dose chemotherapy) or four courses of epirubicin and cyclophosphamide, followed by three courses of cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil given at intervals of 2 weeks with growth-factor support (dose dense conventional chemotherapy).

For high-dose chemotherapy, patients received an induction regimen with two courses of epirubicin and cyclophosphamide. Epirubicin was given as a 1 h infusion at a dose of 90 mg/m2 followed by cyclophosphamide (1–2 h infusion) at a dose of 600 mg/m2. Intravenous mesna at 20% of the cylophosphamide dose was given at the same time as the cyclophosphamide infusions then 4 h and 8 h later. The therapy was repeated after 2 weeks with growth-factor support (Filgrastim 5 g/kg body weight) from day 5 to day 12. After the second course, Filgrastim was given at a dose of 5  $\mu$ g/kg from day 2 onwards. Peripheral-blood stem cells were collected around day 8–10, depending on peripheral

CD34-cell counts. Around the collection time, the Filgrastim dose was adapted individually, depending on peripheral CD34-cell counts. Different study sites had different strategies of Figrastim dosing and administration before stem-cell collection. For all patients, a minimum of 2x106 CD34- positive cells per kg bodyweight for each transplant and an identical back-up sample were stored. 4 weeks after the start of chemotherapy, patients were scheduled to receive the first cycle of high-dose chemotherapy, which was repeated 3 weeks later. Treatment delay was at the discretion of the investigating clinician. Complete haematological reconstitution was not mandatory for the start of the second course.

For each cycle of high-dose chemotherapy, patients received via central venous access epirubicin 90 mg/m2 on day -5 (1 h infusion) followed by cyclophosphamide 1000 mg/m2 on days -5 to -3 before transplantation (2–3 h infusion, total dose 3000 mg/m2), followed by thiotepa 133 mg/m2 on days -5 to -3 (2–3 h infusion, total dose 400 mg/m2). Intravenous mesna at 20% of the cyclophosphamide dose was given with the cyclophosphamide infusions then 4 h and 8 hours later. Peripheral-blood stem cells were given on day 0 and Filgrastim treatment started on day 1 after transplantation. According to the protocol, total doses of 360 mg/m2 epirubicin, 7200 mg/m2 cyclophosphamide, and 800 mg/m2 thiotepa were planned over 11 weeks.

Dose-dense conventional chemotherapy consisted of four courses of epirubicin and cyclophosphamide, followed by three courses of cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil. Epirubicin was given as a 1 h infusion at 90 mg/m2, followed by cyclophosphamide (1–2 h infusion) at 600 mg/m2. The second regimen consisted of cyclophosphamide (1–2 h infusion) at 600 mg/m2, methotrexate at 40 mg/m2 as a short infusion, and .fluorouracil (1 h infusion) at 600 mg/m2 with conventional mesna support. All courses were given with intervals of 2 weeks with Filgrastim support (5 \_g/kg) from day 5 to day 12. The total planned doses were 360 mg/m2 epirubicin, 4200 mg/m2 cyclophosphamide, 120 mg/m2 methotrexate, and 1800 mg/m2 .fluorouracil over 14 weeks.

4 weeks after completion of chemotherapy, all patients underwent radiotherapy of the chest wall, breast, and infra-clavicular and supraclavicular fossa at conventional doses (50 Gy and 50 Gy plus 10 Gy boost for the breast) and fractions (2 Gy/day). Tamoxifen (20 mg daily for 5 years) was started in all patients with hormone-receptor positive disease or unknown hormone-receptor status after the completion of chemotherapy.

Patients were reassessed every 3 months during the first year, every 6 months during the second year, and thereafter every 12 months. At each visit, a history was taken and

complete clinical examination and blood chemical studies were done. After breastconserving surgery, mammography was done at 6 months and 12 months and then once a year. Chest radiography and liver ultrasonography were done every 6 months during the first 2 years and then every 12 months. Bone scans and further radiological examinations were done only if there were clinical symptoms. Treatment-related mortality and morbidity were assessed at the time of the first follow-up.

## 2.3. Prognostic factors and histopathological analysis

At time of diagnosis, the following baseline characteristics were determined: age, histopathology, tumor size, grade, number of examined and positive lymph nodes, and ER/PR status.

#### 2.3.1. Tumor samples

Paraffin embedded tumor blocks were requested from all 403 patients participating in the trial. Representative sections from 252 of these (63%) were received. Sufficient primary tumor tissue was available in 236 (59%) tumor samples; these sections were reviewed and analyzed at our central laboratory for specific morphologic features, including grade (based on the criteria of Elston and Ellis)[63] and vascular invasion.

2.3.2. Tissue microarrays and antibodies for immunohistochemistry

Breast cancer TMA were prepared as follows: representative tissue blocks were selected as donor blocks for the TMA. Sections were cut from each donor block and stained with hematoxylin and eosin for detecting of a representative area. Using these slides, one morphologically representative region was chosen from each of the 236 tumor samples.

One cylindrical core tissue specimen per tumor block (diameter = 2.0 mm) was

punched from these regions and precisely arrayed into a new recipient paraffin block

(20.35 mm) using a custom-built precision instrument (Beecher Instruments, Silver

Spring, Md., USA). Distance between single core specimens was 0.8 mm. Nine tissue array blocks were prepared, seven containing 30 and two containing 16 tumor sample cores, respectively. Each block was subsequently stained with hemotoxylin and eosin to verify presence of tumor within each 2.0 mm tissue core. All sample cores had definitive places in the recipient block, and a plan of cores noted by study patient number was entered in the Excel table (Microsoft Office 2000).

## 2.3.3. Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

For clustering analyses, we used a large panel of 34 protein markers (table 1). Most of the proteins selected, play a well-established role in breast carcinogenesis[47, 64]. Furthermore, the gene transcripts of these proteins have been reported to be important candidate discriminator genes in stratifying breast cancer into distinct groups based on previous cDNA microarray and protein expression studies[47, 65, 66]. Table 1. Proteins stained on tissue micro arrays.

Proteins	Antibodies	Origin	Clone	Dilution	Staining pattern
ABCA3	Rabbit			1:800	Cytoplasmic
BCL2*	Mouse	DAKO	124	1:50	Cytoplasmic
	monoclonal				
BCRP*	Mouse	Chemicon	BXP-21	1:100	Cytoplasmic/membranous
	monoclonal				
β-Catenin*	Mouse	BD Trans-	14	1:200	Membranous
	monoclonal	duction			
C-kit *	Rabbit	DAKO	Code	1:200	Cytoplasmic/membranous
	polyclonal		A4502		
CK 5*	Mouse	Novocastra	XM26	1:600	Cytoplasmic
	monoclonal				
CK 8*	Mouse	BioGenex	C-51	1:5000	Cytoplasmic
	monoclonal				
CK 17*	Mouse	DAKO	E3	1:20	Cytoplasmic
	monoclonal				
COX-2	Mouse	Cayman		1:400	Cytoplasmic
	monoclonal				
CXCR4*	Mouse	Zymed	12G5	1:100.	Cytoplasmic
	monoclonal				Nuclear
Cyclin D1	Rabbit	DCS	SP4	1:50	Nuclear
	monoclonal				
Cyclin E	Mouse	Novocastra	13A3	1:50	Nuclear
	monoclonal				
E-	Mouse	Novocastra	36B5	1:50	Membranous
Cadherin*	monoclonal				
EGFR*	Mouse	Merck	E30	1:100	Cytoplasmic/membranous
	monoclonal				

ER*	Rabbit	DCS	SP1	1:800	Nuclear
Erk1/Erk2*	monocional Rabbit monocional	Cell Signaling	p44/42 MAPK (20G11)	1:400	Cytoplasmic/nuclear
ET-1*	Mouse monoclonal	Alexis	Antiendoth	1:200	Cytoplasmic
ETR-α	Sheep	Alexis	ET- <sub>α</sub> -R Antiserum	1:200	Cytoplasmic
ETR-β*	Sheep polyclonal	Alexis	ET- <sub>B</sub> -R- Antiserum	1:200	Cytoplasmic
FHIT	Rabbit polyclonal	Zymed	ZR44	1:150	Cytoplasmic
HER-2*	Rabbit polyclonal	DAKO	c-erbB-2	1:500	Membranous
MGMT	Mouse monoclonal	Neomarkers	MT3.1	1:250	Cytoplasmic/nuclear
MIB1/Ki- 67*	Mouse monoclonal	DAKO	MIB1	1:1000	Nuclear
MUC-1	Mouse monoclonal	Novocastra	Ma695	1:100	Membranous/cytoplasmic
p16*	Mouse monoclonal	Neomarkers	16P07	1:50	Nuclear
p27	Mouse monoclonal	Novocastra	1B4	1:50	Nuclear
p53*	Mouse monoclonal	Oncogene	DO-1	1:500	Nuclear
p63*	Mouse monoclonal	BD Pharmingen	4A4	1:200	Nuclear
PR*	Rabbit monoclonal	DCS	SP2	1:800	Nuclear
pTEN*	Mouse monoclonal	Santa Cruz	A2B1	1:50	Cytoplasmic
Synaptophy sin	r Rabbit polyclonal	DAKO	A0010	1:200	Cytoplasmic

S6*	Rabbit	Cell	S6	1:400.	Cytoplasmic
	polyclonal	Signaling	ribosomal		
			protein		
			antibody		
Topo-Ilα*	Rabbit	Novocastra		1:200	Nuclear
	polyclonal				
Vimentin*	Rabbit	Biogenex	V9	1:20.00	Cytoplasmic
	monclonal			0	

\* used for clustering analysis

Related pathways are displayed in table 2.

Table 2. Pathways of examined markers.

proliferation/differentiation	cellular	oncogenes or	markers for	multidrug
status of the mammary	origin	tumorsuppressors	metastasis	resistance
gland and tumor cell				markers
ER-α, PR, Synapto-	CK5, CK8,	HER-2, EGFR,	Endothelin-1	BCRP,
physin, MUC1, BCL2,	CK17,	p53, p63, E-	[ET-1],	ABCA3,
Ki67/ MIB1, Cyclin D1,	Vimentin	cadherin, FHIT,	Endothelin-α	MGMT
Cyclin E, p27, topo-llα,		pTEN, ß-Catenin,	[ETR-α], and	
COX-II, ERK1/ ERK2, S6		p16, c-kit	β-receptor	
			[ETR-β],	
			CXCR4	

Immunohistochemical staining was performed on 3  $\mu$ m paraffin sections. Pretreatment for antigen retrieval was mainly done by pressure cooker except for EGFR and S6, where pronase and autoclaving was used, respectively. Dilutions of the antibodies are listed in table 1. After blockage of biotin (by avidin-biotin) and peroxidase (by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), immunohistochemical staining was performed on an automated immunostainer (Biogenex, i6000, San Ramon, California) using a standard labeled streptavidinbiotin method (UltraTek Reagent Detection Kit, Scy Tek, Logan, Utah) followed by 3,3 V-diaminobenzidine enzymatic development. Sections were counterstained blue with hematoxylin. Omission of the primary antibody as well as antiisotype antibodies served as negative control.

#### 2.3.5. Immunohistochemistry scoring

Staining results were assessed by one pathologist and were reevaluated randomly by a second pathologist without any knowledge about clinical follow-up. A good correlation (96%) was found between the two observers. Any discrepancies were resolved with a multihead microscope by discussion. The immunostaining of protein markers was compared in 15 cases to approve the correlation between protein expression in the 2 mm core biopsy and whole tumor block among each other. There was concordance among the triplicate scores in 97.3% and concordance between mean score of triplicates and main block of 93,3%, which indicates, that core specimens are representative for the whole tumor.

The scoring for the single marker evaluation was performed according to the literature as follows:

- Bcl-2 (0:none cytoplasmatic staining, 1+: <10% of cells, 2+: 10-50% of cells, 3+:>50% of cells. 1-3 scores were summarized as positive for statistical analysis),

- c-kit (0: none or <10% of tumor cells, 1+: low or moderate level cytoplasm staining in >10% of tumor cells, 2+: strong staining in >10% of tumor cells; 1+ and 2+ were stained as positive),

- COX-2 (0: none cytoplasm staining, 1+: low, 2+: moderate and 3+: strong staining; 2+ and 3+ were stained as positive),

- Cyclin E (in at least 10 fields of view: 0= staining of 0-5% of nuclei, 1+=5-33% of nuclei, 2+: 34-66%, 3+: 67-100%: 1+-3\* were stained as positive),

- CXCR4 (determination between nuclear (<30% vs. >30%) and cytoplasmatic staining (moderate or strong staining as positive and low as negative),

- ET-1, ETR- $\alpha$ , ETR- $\beta$  (0 (none) or 1+ (low cytoplasm staining) as negative and 2+ (moderate) and 3+ (strong) as positive),

- FHIT (none (0) staining as negative and 1+ (low/moderate) and 2+ (strong) as positive), p16 (The percentage of positive nuclei was scored as: 0, no positivity; 1, up to 25% positive; 2, 26–50% positive; 3, 51–75% positive 4, 76-100% positive. Intensity was scored as 1+ weak, 2+ moderate and 3+ strong positive. The two scores were added to obtain a total score. Total score of 0 and 1 was scored as negative and 2-7 as positive) and p27 (0= none expression, 1+ in 1-10% of tumor cells, 2+: 10-49% of tumor cells, 3+: 50-100% of tumor cells. Intensity of staining was scored as follows: 1: weak, 2: moderate, 3: strong. The two scores were

multiplied, cases with product 0 and 1 were scored as negative, and >2 as positive) were scored by assigning a proportion score and an intensity score.

- ER and PR were also scored by a proportion and intensity score according to (25), respectively: Intensity of the staining: 1=weakly positive; 2=moderately positive; 3=strongly positive. Proportion of the stained tumor cells: <10%=1, 10-50%=2, 50-80%=3, >80%=4. The intensity score and the proportion score were multiplied to give a final score ranging from 0 to 12, designated as negative or positive as follows: score of 0–3, negative; score of 4–12, positive.

- ABCA3, BCRP, β-Catenin, Cyclin D1, MGMT, MIB1, MUC-1, p53, p63 and Topo-IIα were considered positive when >10% of the cancer cells unequivocally showed positive staining.

CK5, CK8, CK17, E-cadherin, EGFR, pTEN, Vimentin, Synaptophysin and S6 were scored positive if any specific staining in the carcinoma cells was observed.
 HER-2, only membranous staining was scored using the HercepTest protocol and a score of 3+ was recorded as a positive result. Cases with 2+ scores were further evaluated by fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) to evaluate HER-2/neu gene amplification. HER-2 gene amplification was analyzed by FISH in those cases that had an immuno-histochemical HER-2 score of 2+. Hybridization was performed on 4µm-thick paraffin sections using the Oncor®/ Ventana® INFORM ®HER-2/neu Gene Detection System (Ventana Medical Systems, Frankfurt, Germany).

- ERK1/ERK2 staining was considered positive if a moderate or strong nuclear staining was observed in breast cancer cells. Cases with single or few, focally positive tumors cells were assessed negative.

#### 2.4. Statistical analysis

The primary endpoint of the study was event-free survival, which was defined as survival without recurrence or therapy-related mortality. Overall survival and treatment related toxicity/mortality were secondary endpoints. Statistical analysis was done by both per protocol and intention-to-treat methods.

On the basis of preliminary results from historically controlled trials on adjuvant high-dose chemotherapy of breast cancer, the WSG AM 01 study was originally designed to detect an improvement in event-free survival after 3 years from 50% after dose-dense conventional therapy to 70% in the tandem high-dose group. When the less favorable preliminary results from randomised trials published in 1999 (Bergh) became available, a protocol amendment was effected so that the study would be able to detect a difference of

60% compared with 70% in event-free survival after 3 years. The amendment was effected without any knowledge of the outcome data from the study. 400 patients had to be recruited over a period of 5 years to achieve 80% power to identify an improvement of this size at 5% significance (one-sided because a finding of better event-free survival in the conventional-treatment group would have the same practical consequences as a finding of no superiority of high-dose chemotherapy). A recruitment phase of 5 years was planned and minimum follow-up of 3 years, corresponding to a 5-year median observation time, was required for analysis of event-free survival.

Survival analysis was performed using the Kaplan–Meier method including the log-rank test group comparisons. Uni- and multivariate analyses of EFS and OS used proportional hazard Cox regression models. Multivariate analyses (including treatment interaction analyses) were performed by backward elimination using the Wald test; hazard ratios for borderline significant factors and interactions are included; 95% confidence intervals are reported. All data were analyzed using SPSS for Windows; SPSS, Chicago, IL.

Bivariate correlations of individual markers were measured by Pearson's correlation. Association of markers with triple negativity was assessed by Fisher's exact test.

Cluster analysis (K-means)

K-means analysis was performed to cluster the patients into subgroups according to their protein expression profiles. Clustering was based on the initial scores reflecting the full dynamic range of the data. Five patients were excluded from further analysis because too many scores were missing for technical reasons (loss of tissue cores from the TMA). We applied K-means clustering with K=5 and Manhattan Distance as similarity measure with 25 iterations as implemented in the Genesis Software Package.

## 3. Results

## 3.1. Patient population

Between May 1995 and June 2002, 403 patients were randomized to tandem HD (201 patients) or DD conventional chemotherapy (202 patients). From 236 patients (59%), paraffin embedded tumor blocks with primary tumor tissue were retrieved for central pathological review and further immunohistochemical investigations (116 from HD and 120 from DD). Patient and tumor characteristics are detailed in Table 2. The subpopulation characteristics were the same as for the original study population[30]. Histologic breast cancer subtypes, according to the World Health Organization histology typing, included invasive ductal carcinomas (79%), lobular (17%), tubular (3%) and other types (1%). Tumor samples included 15 (6.4%) well differentiated, 127 (53.8%) moderately differentiated and 94 (39.8%) poorly differentiated breast carcinomas.

	Tandem HI	andem HDC DD-conventional		ional
Characteristics	N=116	%	N= 120	%
Age (years)				
• median ± SD	50.1 ± 9.0		$48.8 \pm 8.5$	
Menopausal status				
• pre	63	54%	59	49%
• post	48	41%	58	48%
unknown	5	5%	3	3%
Surgery				
<ul> <li>breast conserving</li> </ul>	39	34%	47	39%
therapy				
Tumor size (cm)				
• mean ± SD	$\textbf{3.5} \pm \textbf{2.1}$		$3.4\pm2.1$	
• median	2.8		3.0	
Positive nodes				
• mean $\pm$ SD	$17.3\pm7.5$		16.9 ±6.9	
• median	15.0		15.0	
Receptor status				
	51	44%	49	41%

Table 2.	Patient's a	and tumor	characteristics

• ER+	40	35%	46	38%
PR+	63	54%	62	52%
<ul> <li>ER+ and/or PR+</li> </ul>	2	2%	4	3%
Unknown				
Grading				
• G1	4	3%	11	9%
• G2	61	53%	66	55%
• G3	51	44%	43	36%
Her-2/neu Staining				
Positive	24	21%	19	16%
Negative	88	76%	96	80%
Unknown	3	2%	5	4%
Triple negative	30	26%	36	30%
EGFR Staining				
Positive	12	10%	19	16%
Negative	103	89%	96	80%
Unknown	1	1%	5	4%
MIB-1 Staining				
Positive	69	60%	62	52%
Negative	42	36%	53	44%
Unknown	5	4%	5	4%

## 3.2. Patient outcome according to study arm

236 patients (116 HD and 120 DD) were followed up until November 2005, leading to a median follow up time of 61.7 months in patients still alive at the time of analysis with a range of 4.2-121.9 months (HD: 67.9 months, DD: 56.3 months). 56 relapses were reported in the HD and 76 in the DD group. Estimated 5-year EFS rate was 62% for the HD group and 41% for the DD; (HR 0.60, 95%CI: 0.43-0.85, p=0.004). A total of 99 deaths were reported (39 in HD; 60 in DD); 5-year OS was 76% in the HD arm and 61% in the DD arm; (HR 0.58, 95% CI: 0.39-0.87, p=0.007) (Fig 2).

#### Figure 2. Event free (A) and overall (B) survival





## 3.3. Correlation of prognostic factors

HR negative tumors as a whole were significantly associated with G3 (60% vs. 23.2, p=.001), as well as over-expression of MIB-1 (67% vs. 52%, p=0.028), Her-2/neu (31% vs. 9.6, p<0.001) and EGFR (28% vs. 4%, p<0.001).

With regard to the clinically interesting triple-negative (TN) subgroup, 66 (28%) patients had triple negative tumors i.e. that stained negative for ER, PR, and HER2. Triple negative tumors were significantly associated with a younger age (median: 45.2 years +/- 9.0 vs. 51.2 +/- 8.1; p<0.001), G3 (57% vs. 31%; p=0.001), and EGFR overexpression (34% vs. 7%; p<0.001).

## 3.4. Protein expression analysis

236 primary tumors were stained for a set of 34 protein markers by immuno-chemistry on TMA. A total of 7437 (92.7%) of a maximum possible number of 8024 tissue core sections produced interpretable immunostaining. The number of positive cases of the interpretable cases is seen in table 2. Missing immunostaing data was usually caused by loss of a core from the section, less commonly by exhaustion of tumor material or necrosis in the core on deeper sections.

No.	Proteins	Ν	positive	%
		(evaluable)		
1	ABCA3	201	21	10.4
2	BCL2*	213	67	31.5
3	BCRP*	212	85	40.1
4	β-Catenin*	217	133	61.3
5	C-kit *	219	27	12.3
6	CK 5*	221	20	9.0
7	CK 8*	216	201	93.1
8	CK 17*	220	20	9.1
9	COX-2	215	84	39.0
10	CXCR4*cytoplasmatic	189	108	57.1
	Nuclear	189	22	11.6
11	Cyclin D1	223	116	52
12	Cyclin E	218	23	10.6
13	E-Cadherin*	216	166	76.9

Table 3. Results of proteins immunhistochemical expression.

14	EGFR*	224	33	14.7
15	ER*	222	110	49.5
16	Erk1/Erk2*	204	80	39.2
17	ET-1*	202	69	34.2
18	ETR-α	201	102	50.7
19	ETR-β*	197	138	70.0
20	FHIT	215	170	79.1
21	HER-2*	205	40	19.5
22	MGMT	213	131	61.5
23	MIB1/Ki-67*	222	128	57.7
24	MUC-1	225	174	77.3
25	p16*	215	78	36.3
26	p27	217	96	44.2
27	p53*	224	67	29.9
28	p63*	218	4	1.8
29	PR*	218	83	38.0
30	pTEN*	220	43	19.5
31	Synaptophysin	221	8	3.6
32	S6*	197	169	85.5
33	Τορο-ΙΙα*	205	65	31.7
34	Vimentin*	209	26	12.4

\*markers used for k-clustering analysis

Representative staining of 3 biomarkers is shown in fig. 3 (ER, Her-2/neu, CK 5). For statistical cluster analysis, 5 patients were excluded from the study due to either technical reasons (lack of staining) or lack of representative cancer tissue. In summary, breast cancer samples from 231 patients were analyzed in this study.

Figure 3. Representative staining of ER, Her-2/neu, CK5



## 3.5. Identification of protein clusters

The protein expression patterns of 231 tumor samples were analysed by k-means clustering and using Manhattan distance as a similarity measure. A clear separation of cases into distinct groups with adequate linkage distances was achieved by calculating different numbers and sets of the protein markers. Finally the most stable subtypes were built using 24 proteins (labeled by \* in table 2).

5 subtypes according to the microarray analysis were identified: luminal-A (27%), luminal-B (12%), HER-2 (21%), basal-like (13%) type, and a this far unknown group (27%), which we called the "multiple marker negative" (MMN) group characterized mainly by the strong expression of luminal marker CK8, a lower expression of ER and PR, and the absence of any further specifying markers. Distribution of protein expression in the subtypes is shown in the fig. 4.

Fig. 4. K-mean clustering results. Different shades of red code for increasing levels of immunhistochemical staining intensity.



Fig. 5 shows three-dimensional representation of the results from the principal component analysis. The closer two samples appear in the three-dimensional space, the more similar are their respective expression patterns.

Fig. 5. three-dimensional representation of the results from the principal component analysis



There is the widest distance between luminal A and basal-like tumors on the X-axis, reflecting their biological differences, as shown in the fig. 5. Overlaps between luminal A/B and basal-like/Her-2/neu subtypes in single protein expression were observed.

## 3.6. Distribution of molecular subtypes

#### Luminal A (27%) and B (12%) groups

Both groups were characterized by a strong expression of luminal markers such as the two hormone receptors (ER/PR) and cytokeratin 8. Endothelin-1 and Endothelin receptor  $\alpha$  expression was also associated with luminal subtype. A stronger expression of bcl-2 and  $\beta$ -catenin in the A subtype and nuclear CXCR4 expression in the B subgroup should be highlighted as differences between luminal A and B subtypes. Both groups were completely negative for basal markers, e.g. CK 5 and 17, EGFR and vimentin.

#### Multiple marker negative subtype (27%)

This subgroup was positive for most luminal markers (e.g. Ck 8), but was less positive for hormone receptors and bcl-2, that would be led to the place between luminal and basal subtypes. Furthermore this type was completely negative for basal markers (Ck 5 and 17, EGFR) and had a lower proliferation rate than basal/Her-2/neu subtypes.

#### Her-2/neu subtype (21%) and basal-like (13%)

Both subtypes had similar expression patterns, were negative for hormone receptors and CK 8, except for the basal proteins (CK 5 and 17, vimentin, c-kit) and Her-2/neu, which are either negative or positive in corresponding groups. Both groups were characterized by frequent and stronger expression of p53, p16, BCRP, and high proliferation rate MIB-1. Both subtypes were significantly associated with G3 tumors (62,5% in Her-2/neu and 79% in basal-like subtypes vs. 30% in other subtypes), furthermore patients with basal-like tumors were younger than in other subgroups (48,3% <40 years old vs. 15% in other subgroups and there was a non-significant trend to higher mean number of LN in basal-like tumors (similar as MMN group) compared with other subtypes. Basal-like subtype was significantly associated with local recurrence within the study population (p=0,009).

#### 3.7. Survival analysis according to molecular classification

The luminal A subtype had the best EFS compared with other subtypes (5 year EFS 69%), followed by non-significant trend to worse EFS In luminal B [HR for EFS luminal B

vs. A=1,326, p=0,326] and MMN subtypes [HR for EFS MMN vs. luminal A=1.343, p=0.256]. The basal-like and Her-2/neu subtypes had a similar poor prognosis vs. luminal A subtype [HR for EFS basal-like or Her/2-neu vs. luminal A=2.4, p<0,001]. Details see Fig.5

Fig. 5. Event free survival in protein cluster subgroups



#### Event Free Survival

#### 3.8. Correlation of basal-like subtype and triple-negative status of tumors.

However in regard to the determination of triple-negative phenotype to protein clusters a significant association of basal-like breast cancer with triple negative phenotype could be confirmed (p<0,001), but only 33% of triple-negative tumors were defined as basal-like, although 80% of basal-like tumors are triple-negative. Surprisingly 8 (12%) of triple-negative cases were classified as luminal A or B tumors. Details are given in the table 3. From the whole cohort of the measured protein markers there is only a significant positive correlation between triple-negative tumors and typical basal-like markers (e.g. CK 5 and 17, EGFR, vimentin, c-kit, p16, BCRP).

Triple-negative phenotype was associated with a non-significant trend of a higher incidence of visceral metastases (p=0.065), but not local relapse.

Table 3. Distribution of triple negative breast cancer between protein clusters.

		Protein clus	Protein cluster						
		Luminal A	luminal B	MMN	Her-2/neu	Basal-like	Total		
triple-	No	52	24	44	39	6	165		
negative	Yes	8	5	20	10	23	66		
	Total	60	29	64	49	29	231		

# 3.9. Patient outcome according to conventional prognostic factors and molecular subtypes

Tumors from 211 patients with available staining results for all protein markers and protein classification were included in univariate and multivariate analysis.

In the univariate analysis, the following factors were significantly associated with better EFS: HD, positive PR status, tumor size (>5 and respectively 2-5 cm), G1/2, and negative status of Her-2/neu and of MIB-1 as well luminal or MMN protein cluster.

The same factors as well as positive ER status and negative EGFR were significantly associated with longer OS.

The multivariate analysis was performed, including the factors therapy arm, tumor size, ER, PR, grade, HER-2/ neu, MIB-1, and EGFR and protein cluster.

After inclusion of protein cluster (basal-like or Her-2/neu vs. other subtypes: HR=2.43, p<0.001) in the multivariate analysis only tumor size  $\geq$ 2 and  $\geq$ 5 cm (as two step analysis) (HR=1.51, p=0.012) and HD therapy (HR=0.50, p=0.001) remained as independent prognostic factors.

For OS, again HD therapy (HR=0.48, p<0.001) and positive PR status (HR=0.43, p=0.001) were favourable, whereas in addition to protein cluster (HR=2.30, p<0.001) and larger tumor size >2 and >5 cm (HR=1.46, p=0.04) were associated with an increased risk of death. Detailed results for the univariate and multivariate analysis are shown in Table 5.

Table 5. Multivariate analysis for event free and overall survival

	_	
Event	Free	Survival

#### **Overall Survival**

		univariate	multivariate		univariate	multivariate	
				Hazard			
				ratio <sup>§</sup>			Hazard ratio <sup>§</sup>
	Comparison	P*	р	[95%-CI]	P*	р	[95%-CI]
Therapy	HD vs. DD	0.004	0.001	0.50	0.008	<0.001	0.48
				[0.34-0.74]			[0.31– 0.75]
Tumor size	≥5 cm vs. ≥2-5	0.01	0.012	1.51	0.02	0.04	1.46
	cm vs. <2 cm			[1.09-2.07]			[1.02-2.09]
ER	Pos. vs. neg.	0.14			0.004		
							0.44
PR	Pos. vs. neg.	0.05			< 0.001	0.001	[0.26 – 0.74]
Grade	G 3 vs. G1/2	0.07			0.003		
HER-2/ neu	Pos. vs. neg.	0.048			0.005		
MIB-1	Pos. vs. neg.	0.01			0.005		
EGFR	Pos. vs. neg.	0.12			0.005		
Protein	Basal-like/Her-			2.43			2.30
cluster	2/neu vs. other	0.001	<0.001	[1.66-3.56]	0.001	<0.001	[1.45-3.64]
Age	≤50 years vs.<50	0.45			0.69		

\* Log rank test

§ Cox proportional hazards model adjusted for age

## 3.9.1. Therapy effect in subgroups by conventional markers

Therapy efficacy was evaluated in clinically relevant subgroups defined according to the clinico-pathological criteria as well as protein markers. Hazard ratios for EFS between the two treatment groups are displayed in Figure 7. The following parameters were significantly associated with better outcome after HD vs. DD: age ≤50 years; tumor size > 3 cm (was chosen as cut off as median tumor size); G3; negative HR, Her-2/neu and

EGFR status; triple negative tumors (ER/PR/Her-2/neu-), as well as positive MIB-1 staining as conventional prognostic markers.



Figure 7. EFS hazard ratios (HD vs. DD) and 95% CI's in patient subgroups

As noted regarding Figure 7, significant benefits from HD vs. DD was seen in the HR negative but not in the HR positive subgroup (see Figure 8). Within the HD arm, HR status did not have a significant impact on EFS (p=0.592), whereas within the DD arm, HR positive tumors had significantly better EFS (p=0.017). Her/2-neu negative tumors were significantly associated with better EFS in both therapy subgroups (Fig 9).

Fig. 8. Kaplan-Meier plot of EFS in the HD vs. DD arms in patients with HR positive and negative tumors.









In TN tumors, the most pronounced effect of HD was observed. In this subgroup, median EFS was not reached in the HD arm whereas it was only 32.3 months in the DD arm. This translates into an estimated 5-year EFS of 71 % in the TN cohort treated by HD compared to only 26 % in the DD arm. There was no significant outcome difference by therapy arm associated with the remaining tumors (see Figure 10).

Fig. 10. Kaplan-Meier plot of EFS in the HD vs. DD arms in patients with triple-negative (ER/PR/Her-2/neu) and non-triple-negative tumors.




## 3.9.2. Therapy efficacy in molecular subtypes

Figure 10 shows the results of the univariate analysis for EFS (Cox model) concerning the five cluster subtypes in relation to the treatment. For a quantification of treatment effects on EFS and OS the hazard ratios with 95% CI are displayed. A non-significant trend to better efficacy of HD has been shown in basal-like and MMN subtypes. Only in the Her-2/neu subtype has the level of significance been reached.

Figure 11. Hazard ratios HD vs. DD with 95% CI within different molecular subtypes.



### 3.10. Adjuvant therapy interactions in multivariate analysis

An additional perspective on predictive significance of factors for optimal individualized adjuvant therapy is provided by multivariate interaction analysis: Each marker that was significant in univariate Cox analysis was considered both as a potential "main effect" and as a potential interaction with adjuvant therapy (i.e., HD vs. DD) in a proportional hazards model for EFS, the primary endpoint of this randomized prospective trial. (Interaction analysis for EFS provides predictive information about adjuvant therapy efficacy that is not confounded by possibly differing palliative therapy strategies after relapse.)

The resulting model is given in Table 6, which includes the  $\beta$  coefficients of the underlying Cox model to aid in the interpretation. We first note that, according to the first prognostic model, tumor size, PR, and MIB-1 are purely prognostic, whereas grade are both prognostic and predictive, and triple negative status is purely predictive. HD benefit (compared to DD) is entirely attributable to interactions in this model. Basal-like subtype had no independent significant both prognostic and predictive effect in this multivariate model.

Controlling for status of tumor size, PR and MIB-1, HD is associated with relative benefit in TN tumors (HR=0.31, 95% CI: 0.13-0.77, p=0.03) and in G3 tumors (HR=0.35, 95% CI: 0.18-0.64, p=0.001), whereas it is associated with relative risk in EGFR positive tumors (HR=6.38, 95% CI: 1.69-24.1, p=0.006). More precisely, for an individual patient, the composite HD hazard ratio (a number less than unity if there is relative benefit) can be calculated from the model according to the formula

$$HR(HD \text{ vs. } DD) = \exp(\sum_{j=1,3} \beta_j x_j),$$

where j refers to the binary factor (triple negativity, G3, or EGFR positivity),  $x_j$  is 1 if the factor j is positive (e.g., a triple negative tumor) and zero otherwise, and  $\beta_j$  is the appropriate entry from the last three rows of Table 6.

For example, according to the model, a G3 patient who is EGFR negative and not triple negative would have a hazard ratio of about 2.88 compared to a G1 or G2 patient with the same tumor size class, PR status, and MIB-1 status if both receive DD. If both receive HD, then the G1 or G2 patient would not benefit, whereas the G3 patient would have a benefit corresponding to a HR of about 0.20 compared to the same patient with DD and would even have a favorable hazard ratio of exp(1.06-1.60) or about 0.581 compared to the G1 / G2 patient (with either therapy).

If the patient is triple negative, then the model implies a benefit from HD for any grade if the patient is EGFR negative (the usual). If the patient is EGFR positive, the model formally implies that the benefit of HD (to triple negative patients) would occur only for grade G3, i.e., not for G1 or G2; however, this is a rare occurrence: all but one of the triple negative & EGFR positive patients were G3.

	Comparison	2	β	Hazard ratio <sup>§</sup>
	Companson	þ	(log HR)	[95%-CI]
Therapy	HD vs. DD	n.s.		
Tumor size	≥5 cm vs. ≥2-5	0.06	0.29	1.33
	cm vs. <2 cm	0.00		[0.98 – 1.81]
ER	Pos. Vs. Neg.	n.s.		
		0.02	-0.51	0.60
PR	Pos. Vs. Neg.	0.02		[0.40 – 0.91]
Grade		~0 001	1.06	2.36
	G 3 vs. G1/2	\$0.001		[1.41-3.94]
HER-2/ neu	Pos. Vs. Neg.	n.s.		
		0 02	0.50	1.65
MIB-1	Pos. Vs. Neg.		0.00	[1.08-2.52]
EGFR	Pos. Vs. Neg.	n.s.		
Age	≤50 years vs.<50	n.s.		
	triple negative vs	ne		
triple negative status	others	11.3.		
	Basal-like vs.	ne		
Basal-like	non-basal-like	11.3.		
interaction: grade *	G3 and HD vs. all	0.001	-1.05	0.35
therapy	others	0.001		[0.18 – 0.64]
interaction: EGFR*	Pos. and HD vs.	0.006	1 85	6.38
therapy	all others	0.000	1.05	[1.69-24.1]
interaction: triple	triple and HD vs.	0.01	-1.16	0.31
negative status *therapy	all others	0.01		[0.13-0.77]

Table 6. Multivariate adjuvant therapy interaction analysis for event free survival.

# 4. Discussion

# 4.1. Dose and schedule of chemotherapy in HRBC

WSG-AM-01 was the first trial to report significant OS benefit in patients with  $\geq$ 9 involved LN after tandem high dose chemotherapy (HD) with stem cell support (2 cycles EC q2w followed by 2 cycles of HD cyclophosphamide, thiotepa and epirubicin) compared to a dose-dense(DD) anthracycline based sequential regimen (4 cycles of EC followed by 3 cycles CMF q2w with growth factor support)[30]. For a representative subgroup of 236 patients from this trial, paraffin embedded tumor tissue was available for central pathologic review and immunohistochemical analysis of a panel of molecular markers. The tumor characteristics of this subgroup and survival rates were comparable with that for the whole study population. Our study presents unique results in the adjuvant treated patient collective with highest risk of relapse, defined by median number of involved lymph nodes of 15. 132 relapses (56%) and 99 deaths (42%) were recorded during the 5 year median follow up period. At 61.7 months, the EFS and OS rates significantly favor HD. A relative risk reduction of 40% for relapse and 42% for death was associated with HD treatment compared with standard DD arm.

Results from HD trials in HRBC are controversial, some reporting significant improvement in terms of EFS[23] or non-significant trends to improved RFS [28, 29, 44, 67] or overall survival[29, 67], and others reporting no survival differences [14, 25, 27]. Designs and patient inclusion criteria differ substantially among these trials. Definitive evaluation of the role of HD from this large body of heterogeneous data is impossible, but further analysis of these studies could suggest successful strategies and/or subsets of patients with maximum benefit. The overview of inclusion criteria, therapy regimens and results of randomized phase III trials is given in the table 7.

The recent meta-analysis performed in 6210 patients from 15 randomized trails shows a significant longer DFS (HR 0,87, 0.87; 95%CI 0.81-0.94; p=0.0001), but not breast cancer specific survival (BCSS) (HR 0.93; CI 0.85-1.02; p=0.10) or OS (HR 0.95; CI 0.87-1.02; p=0.16). After adjusting as well for HR in the subset for which it was available, HD significantly prolonged DFS (HR 0.83; CI 0.77-0.90; p<0.0001) and had a modest and marginally significant benefit on BCSS (HR 0.88; CI 0.79-0.97; p=0.013) and OS (HR 0.89; CI 0.82-0.98; p=0.016)[68]. However for the patients with available HR und Her-2/neu status the significant improvement of DFS was reported only for the group with triple-negative tumors.

In view of extensive toxicity and costs of HD the subgroup with the most toxicity remains to be defined.

Table 7. Overview of randomized phase III HD trials.

Overview about HD trials										
			Follow up				Control			
Author	n	Inclusion criteria	(years)	Control	HD	Outcome	(5y)	HD(5y)	Significancy	Comments
I. Classical phase III trial design										
Hortobagyj 78 LN after 4 cycles of neoadjuvant CT	78	>10 positive LN or >4	12	8vEAC	8xFAC+2xHD Cyclo/	RFS	51%	45%	0.11	too few patients
	12		Etoposid/Cisplatin	OS	68%	54%	0.13			
Tokuda	97	<56 years and >10	5	6xFAC	6xFAC+1xHD Cyclo/Thiotepa	RFS	37%	52%	0.17	31% did not receive HD, too few
		positive LN				OS	62%	63%	0.78	patients
Schrama	81	involvement	6,90	4xFE(120)C	Carboplatin/Thiotepa	OS	48% 62%	49% 61%	0.37 0.85	too few patients
				4xFEC	3xFEC-1xHD Cvclo/	EFS (3Y)	55%	77%	0.002	too short follow up
Roche	314	>7 positive LN	3,25		Mitoxantron/Mephalphan	OS (3Y)	84%	86%	0.33	
Zander	307	>10 positive LN	6,1	4xEC-3xCMF	4xEC-1xHD Cyclo/ Thiotepa/Mitoxantron	EFS	42%	49%	0.15	trend to benefit of HD in G3, ER+,
Zanuer	307					OS	62%	64%	0.33	positive
Rodenhuis	885	<55 years old and >4	7	EVELO	4xFEC-1HD	RFS	59%	64%	0.076	significant in >10 LN, Her2-, G1 and
Rodennuis	positive LN	1	JALEC	Cyclo/Carboplatin/Thiotepa	OS	70%	73%	0.22	<40 years old	
Tallmann	511	>10 positive I N	6	6xEEC	6xEEC 1HD Cycle/Thiotena	RFS	48%	55%	0.12	23% had protocol violations,
		0		oxi EC-IIID Cyclo, IIIotepa	OS	62%	58%	0.32	significant in per protocol treatment	
Lenard	605	>4 positive I N	ositive LN 6	4xE-8xCMF	4xE-1 immediate Cyclo-1HD	RFS	54%	57%	0.38	
Eenard	000				Cyclo/Thiotepa	OS	64%	62%	0.78	
Coombes	281	>4 positive I N	6.5	6xFFC	3xFEC-1HD	RFS	59%	57%	0.76	trend to better efficacy in >10 positive
			0,0		Cyclo/Carboplatin/Thiotepa	OS	67%	66%	0.4	LN
II. Comparison of HD with dose/dense or intensive standard										
		expected 5 year RFS < 30%	5	9xtailored FEC	3xFEC-1 HD Cyclo/ Carboplatin/Thiotepa	RFS	72%	62%	0.02	rolated doaths (AML/MDS) in control
Bergh 52	525					OS (HR)	0.866	1	0.287	arm, benefit only in Her-2 positive
			4xFEC-1x	4xFEC-1xHD	EFS	58%	61%	0.24	RFS 48% vs. 58%, 9,3 treatment	
Peters	785	>10 positive LN	7,3	Intermediate Cyclo/	Cyclo/Cispaltin/Carmustin	OS	71%	71%	0.75	mortality in HD arm, HD significant in
			4xAC (A-intensive)-1xSTAMP	DES	80%	75%	0 35	Jouriger patiente		
		>4 positive I N	58	Doxorubicin-3x	I (Cyclo-Cisplatin-Carmustin)	DIO	0070	1070	0.00	Planned sample 1000 patients,
Moore	536		0,0	Taxol-3xCyclo q2w	or STAMP V	OS	88%	84%	0.40	standard arm had higher doses than
III Comparison of multicycle HD with any standard										
		>9 positive LN or >4					120/	E 20/	0.07	
		positive LN and/or T3	5.8	4xEC-3xCMF	3xHD Epribucin/Cyclo	DFS	43%	5270	0.07	HD significant in ER positive, tumor
Basser 34	344	4 and ER negative	-,-			OS	61%	70%	0.17	size 2-5 cm and +10 LN (p=0.06)
		>9 positive I N	4	4xEC-3xCME a2w	2xECq2w-2xHD	EFS	42%	54%	<0.01	too short follow up, HD significant in
Nitz	403		•		Cyclo/Thiotepa/Epirubicin	OS	60%	72%	0.02	younger patients, G3, HR negative
		>4 positive I N	11 5	3vE_6vCME	HD:1xCyclo-1xMethotrexat-	PFS (12y)	44%	52%	n.s.	urend to better efficacy of HD In volunder patients (<35 v.o.) and 4-9
Gianni 398	ст, э		Mephalphain	OS (12y)	51%	60%	n.s.			

Management of HRBC remains a clinical challenge. There are only a few data regarding to prognosis of patients with more than 10 involved LN outside the strong selection criteria of the HD trials. Natural history data base reports 5-year DFS of 20-30% for patients with >10 LN treated only by surgery without adjuvant therapy[8]. In prospective randomized adjuvant chemotherapy trials patients with >10 LN make up for 5%-10% of the whole population, so that data refer for small subgroups. Schmoor et al. have shown 5 year EFS of 22% and OS of 39% in 141 patients with >10 positive LN from two German Breast Cancer group trials treated by CMF[69]. The 5 EFS rates in athracycline-treated patients with >10 involved LN were reported also for control arms of HD trails, where standard anthracycline-based combinations were given[19].

The impact of third-generation taxane-based adjuvant chemotherapy remains unclear. Unplanned retrospective subgroup analysis from the early phase III trials fail to demonstrate a significant survival benefit. Only the Spanish GEICAM study showed more pronounced effects on DFS of remarkably dose-dense 8 cycles of Taxol weekly therapy after 4 cycles of FEC compared with 6 cycles of FEC in patients with more than 4 positive LN vs. group 1-3 LN[71]. In contrast to these results stands recently published results of randomized BIG 02-98 study found no survival difference for concurrent E/Doctaxel-CMF vs. conventional EC-CMF in node-positive BC.

The second important point of discussion is the question of dose intensity and density in adjuvant therapy of HRBC. Although the NSBAP B-22 and B-25 as well as CALGB 9344 revealed no benefit for dose escalation of cyclophopsphamide beyond 600 mg/m<sup>2</sup> and doxorubicin beyond 60 mg/m<sup>2</sup> in unselected cohorts of patients[32, 33, 35], it is remarkable that the best survival rates in control arms in HRBC studies were reached particularly by dose-intensive/dense regimens[27, 28, 72]. The recently presented results of AGO Intergroup study comparing dose-intensive and dense 3xEpirubicin(150 mg/m<sup>2</sup>)/3xCyclophosphamide(2500 mg/m<sup>2</sup>)/3xTaxol(225 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) q2w vs. conventional 4xEC-4xTaxol q3w in patients with >4 positive LN confirm these observation. Impressive 5 year RFS rate of 70% and OS rate of 82% have been estimated in 1284 patients with median number of 8 positive LN[39]. Similar significant superior results in favor of dose-dense concept are shown by Citron et al. (CALGB 9741) who compared dose-dense ECTaxol q2w vs. every 3 weeks administration in node positive BC[38]. Although the third dose-dense study conducted by Venturini et al. comparing standard 6 cycles of FEC every three weeks vs. every two weeks in node-positive and high-risk node-negative BC

has failed the value of significance after 12 years of median follow up (HR for RFS 0,88, 95% CI 0.71-1.08; HR for death 0.87, 95% CI 0.67-1.13), the risk reductions were similar to those in CALGB 9741 study, by better than expected survival in control arm, possibly due to lower risk profile of patients and insufficient dose of anthracyclines applied within the study[40].

On the other hand recently published INT 0137 study comparing sequential dose intensive and dense 4xDoxorubicin (91 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) followed by 3xCyclophopshamide (2400 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) q2w vs. simultaneous dose-intensive 6 cycles EC(54/1200 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) q3w in node-positive (1-3 positive LN) and node-negative BC revealed similar survival rates in both study arms (5 year DFS EC vs. E→C: 79% vs. 81%, p=0.2). But it should be remarked that survival rates in patients with node-positive BC are in favor of dose-dense/intensive arm (5 year DFS EC vs. E→C: 76% vs. 81%)[73]. The results of above mentioned trials are indirectly compared by e.g. study of Piccart et al., which highlighted a benefit for higher dose of epirubicin (100 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) over lower dose particularly in patients with >4 positive LN[36]. The first results of NCIC MA 21 study indicate also a clear significant benefit for dose-intensive Canadian FE<sub>120</sub>C q3w or dose-dense and intensive 6 cycles of E<sub>120</sub>C followed by 4 cycles of Taxol q2w over conventional 4xEC-4xTaxol in high-risk node-negative and node-positive BC[41] after certainly short follow up of 30.6 months.

Until the subgroup with the most benefit is not defined, HD and dose-intensive chemotherapy in breast cancer is not recommended as a standard treatment option in unselected patient collectives by guidelines in Germany and other countries.

#### 4.2. Prognostic and predictive factors

In our present study collective, we have analyzed prognostic value of established parameters such as age, tumor size, number of involved LN, grade as well as HR, Her-2/neu, MIB-1 and EGFR, which are important switching points of proliferation, apoptosis, DNA repair and related pathways. In the second step of the analysis we compared the prognostic impact of above mentioned factors with molecular subgroups determined by unsupervised clustering of expression using a panel of 24 protein markers.

#### 4.2.1 Conventional prognostic markers

In multivariate analysis, the only established parameters correlating significantly with poor outcome were tumor size  $\geq$ 5 cm (EFS, OS) and negative PR (OS).

Other phase II and III trials in HRBC also demonstrated an association of tumor size[74-77], negative HR[14, 23, 74-77], poor differentiation (G3) [75, 76] and higher proliferation[77] with poor outcome. In contrast, the recently published study of Kroger et al[17] did not show a prognostic effect of MIB-1. However, in view of the limited data on molecular markers in HRBC, further analyses of prognostic markers are still needed.

#### 4.2.2. Molecular classification

Previous RNA[47] and cDNA[64] and later protein expression studies have shown the existence of several molecular subtypes of breast cancer, which are associated with a different course of disease in unselected breast cancer patients. The ER and ER related genes are reported to be the critical variables in the development of both normal breast gland and breast cancer.

Differences in expression profiles between ER-positive and negative BC have been reported using both unsupervised and supervised approaches. Gruvberger et al. showed that the differences in gene expression profiles between ER positive and negative tumors could only partly be explained by the activity of a functional ER pathway, suggesting that these differences are largely explained on the basis of different cell lineage[78].

Perou et al.[47] and than Sorlie et al. [64] were the first ones to identify and refine the molecular classification by expression analysis of RNA in 42 and than 496 cDNA (intrinsic set) in 78 T3/4 tumors, partly treated by neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Three groups characterized by low ER expression were identified: Basal-like marked by high expression of keratins 5 and 17 (Ck 5/17), c-kit, caveolin 1, with a high frequency of p53 mutations, mostly G3, where all hereditary breast cancer with BRCA1 mutation were failed[53], erbB2/Her-2/neu subtype with high expression of several genes of the erbB2 amplicon and the normal-like breast subgroup. Two further subgroups mostly ER positive were identified: luminal A and B tumors were mostly ER positive, but luminal B subtype was characterized by higher expression of proliferation genes, lower expression of bcl-2 and higher frequency of p53 mutations. Patients with luminal A and B subtypes. With regard to the luminal subtypes type A was noted to have a better outcome compared with luminal B subtype[64]. The molecular signature was validated in three independent data sets and revealed very similar results[53].

The existence of the molecular subtypes was also confirmed by protein expression studies in unselected cohorts of patients[79]. Although different statistical methods (unsupervised/supervised by survival or ER status as discrimination variable) and number of measured proteins were used and various number of subgroups (from two to six) were identified, similar survival differences have been shown for subgroups as defined by protein expression studies.

So six groups in 1076 patients on TMA using expression of 21 protein markers are identified by Abd EI Rehim et al. Clustering was performed by multiple layer perceptron (MLP) artificial neural network (ANN). Group 1 and 2 (48%) were predominatly HR positive, with strong expression of luminal markers and MUC 1. Group 3 (21,7%) was characterized by lower expression of HR, higher expression of erbB2 and some basal markers, higher incidence of grade 3 tumors vs. groups ½ (60% vs. 30%). Group 4 had only 4 cases and was to small to be described. In the group 5 (17%) there was a strong expression of p53 protein and basal markers, and a reduced level of BRCA1 expression. 89% of these tumors were G3 and had a higher incidence of extensive lymph node involvement. Younger age and more medullar histology were also observed. The sixth group (13%) was predominantly erbB2 positive with negative HR phenotype and absent luminal markers. Most tumors (78%) in this group were poorly differentiated[79].

An another expression profile of 31 protein markers by unsupervised clustering in 438 unselected patients with 15,8 years of median follow up has been investigated by Makretsov et al. A set of 11 markers discriminates in three prognostic groups and predicts survival as good as lymph node status. Group 1 was frequently HR positive with lower expression of p53, basal and proliferative markers compared with group 2 (more Her-2/neu positive) or group 3 (more proliferative). These last groups were characterized by higher expression of CK5. Group 1 had a significantly better EFS and OS rates[65].

Jacqmeier et al. have applied both unsupervised and supervised clustering of 26 selected proteins from 552 consecutive patients with early breast cancer. The unsupervised clustering has revealed three subgroups (A1: mostly ER positive and less proliferative; A2, defined as basoluminal subtype characterized by lower ER expression and B: basal/proliferative subtype). The next step of supervised analysis has related B subtype to the 21 protein poor prognosis signature in both learning and validation set. The 5 year EFS was 90% in the good- prognosis and 66% in the poor prognosis class, which was significant in the multivariate analysis including nodal status, treatment, tumor size and MIB-1 status[66].

Based on the gene-expression studies Nielsen et al.[51] and later Carey[52] et al. have applied the so-called five marker immunhistochemical method to determine basal-like breast cancer, as non-expressing ER, PR, Her-2/neu (triple negative) and expressing either EGFR or CK 5/6. In the Canadian study by Nielsen et al. the basal-like subtype was identified by using of triple-negative phenotype and expression of either EGFR or CK5 and/or c-kit in 930 patients[51]. After mean follow up of 17,3 years the basal-like BC was correlated to shorter disease-specific survival. The basal-like subtype from gene expression array could be identified by immunhistochemical expression of the five markers with specifity of 100% and sensitivity of 76%.

The Carolina Breast Cancer Study evaluated BC subtypes in 496 participants. Luminal A was defined as ER+ and/or PR+ and Her-2/neu-, luminal B as the same combination but Her-2/neu positive[52]. The basal-like breast cancer subtype was more prevalent among premenopausal African American women (39%) compared with postmenopausal African American women (14%) and non–African American women (16%) of any age (p=0.001). Compared with luminal A, basal-like tumors had more TP53 mutations (44% vs. 15%, p<0.001), significantly higher mitotic index, higher combined grade and was associated with the shortest survival compared with luminal A. Both Her-2/neu and basal sub-types had significantly the shortest breast-specific survival.

In the high-risk collective, interesting results were provided by Laakso et al. They investigated the impact of cytokeratine expression (CK 5/14) in 506 primary breast cancer patients. By uniformity of expression and third cytokeratine (CK17) two groups of basal (uniform positive for CK 5/14) and basoluminal (partial positive) subtypes were identified. Basal tumors were associated with vimentin, c-kit and ki-67 expression in contrast Her-2/neu ampflication was observed only in basoluminal tumors. These results were evaluated within 382 patients from the Scandinavian HD study. 73 patients (19%) had CK 5/14 expression, but the whole basal subgroup had a comparable outcome to other patients. However basoluminal tumors, particularly with co-expressed Her-2/neu had significantly shorter RFS[80].

In our analysis 5 subtypes of molecular classification very similar to that in the gene expression and other immunhistochemical studies could be identified by unsupervised clustering (k=5). ER was found to be a critical variable between the subtypes. Luminal A (27%) BC was mostly ER positive and CK8 positive with strong expression of bcl-2, as induced by ER pathway[81]. The luminal B (12%) subtype was also ER/CK8 positive, but as characterized by lower expression of antiapoptotic protein bcl-2, stronger expression of

chemokine receptor CXCR4 and shorter EFS respectively compared with luminal A subtype. For the first time the described MMN (multiple marker negative) subtype could be partly addressed to the basoluminal subtype, as transformation form of luminal and basal BC, marked by lower expression of ER and luminal markers but absent expression of basal markers. Both Her-2/neu (21%) and basal-like (13%) subgroups were strongly associated with proliferative patterns (p53, p16, MIB-1, topo-II) and subsequently with poor differentiated G3 tumors. The difference between groups were only the different profiles of expression of Her-2/neu and basal-markers (c-kit, Ck 5/17, vimentin). The basal-like subtype was significantly correlated to younger age of patients and higher incidence of locoregional relapse.

In contrast to the other protein expression studies we have identified luminal B subtype, whereas only in one immunhistochemical study it was possible to determine it[79]. We didn't observe significant survival differences between luminal subtypes, only a trend to a worse survival rate has been seen in luminal B subtype. This prognostic determination between both luminal subtypes can also be marked by different response to therapy.

Very similarly to the most microarray and immunhistochemistry studies a significantly worse DFS (as primary endpoint of the study) in basal-like and Her-2/neu BC compared to luminal A/B subtypes was found by us. Luminal A subtype had the best survival followed by luminal B and MMN subtypes.

The molecular classification of breast cancer seems to be also very relevant in light of new data of prognostic gene signatures and theories of breast cancer development. The existence of molecular subtypes as different sub-diseases within the BC challenges the whole understanding of biology of primary disease and further development of metastasis. Previously it has been reported that tumor progression is characterized by changes from a luminal epithelial –like to mesenchymal like phenotype, or from well-differentiated to high grade disease[82], but that was not validated by in vivo findings. Van t'Veer et al, investigating whether the metastatic capability occur early in the malignant process and that gene expression profiles would already reflect prognosis at an early stage in breast cancer, selected 98 primary breast cancers, all untreated systemically, 34 who had distant metastasis within 5 years and 44, who remained disease free. 231 genes were identified to be significantly associated with metastasis. Using "leaving-one-out" cross validation 70 genes could be further selected that could predict a poor prognosis[48]. This gene signature was further validated in 295 node-positive and negative patients and was able to be the strongest predictor for metastasis-free survival. The further work of Weigelt and

co-workers confirmed stability of the gene signature through the metastatic process of disease. Remarkably, multiple metastases from one patient all display the same molecular breast cancer subtype independent of the organ in which they developed and still maintain the unique molecular identity of the primary that they arose from[83].

Using multi-gene reverse transcriptase (RT-PCR) assays performed in fixed paraffin embedded tissue, Genomic Health has identified 21 gene significantly associated with distant recurrence in breast cancer patients. This gene signature was validated in several randomized sets of systematically treated patients and was a very strong predictor of prognosis in node-negative [49] breast cancer patients. Only patients with high genomic risk had benefit from adjuvant CMF chemotherapy added to standard tamoxifen.

There is a old discussion about existence of breast cancer stem cell characterized by selfrenewal like a haematopoietic malignancy and could responsible for development of early and late metastasis. Liu et al confirmed a prognostic significance of 186 gene signature from tumorgenic breast cancer cells (expressing CD 44+/CD 24-) in the same 295 patients, where 70 gene signature of Van t'Veer et al was validated[48] and 286 patients from the Erasmus cancer centre[84]. In the second step of analysis the same signature has been shown to have prognostic impact in patients with other cancers (Medullosblastoma, lung and prostate cancer)[85].

Interestingly Fan et al. recently published a very high concordance between both commercially available gene signatures (70 Gene and 21 Gene recurrence score) and molecular subtypes of BC in 295 tumors[50]. All basal-like cancers (as defined by intrinsic genotype[64]) were scored as high risk by 70 Gene Signature and by 21 Gene Recurrence Score. The same results have been obtained for Her-2/neu subtype. Subsequently several gene products of the basal-like cluster are also expressed in stem cells of various tissue types[86]. Collectively, the gene-expression profile of basal-like BC provides a myriad of candidate genes that might contribute to their aggressive phenotype and may suggest a less differentiated "stem/progenitor" cell origin for these tumours.

In regard to the subgroup of patients with multiple lymph node metastasis one study the signature found to predict lymph node invasion seemed to be different to that which predicted distant recurrence, suggesting that different biological processes are involved in both metastasis development[87].

# 4.2.3. Correlation of triple-negative/basal-like subtype

Most studies reported, that measurement of basal-marker expression can more exactly define basal-like subtype than triple-negative (TN) subtype defined by absent expression of ER, PR, Her-2/neu. In contrast to the basal-like subtype in the microarray analysis there is only limited information about characteristics of triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) available.

### 4.2.3.1. Prevalence

The TN prevalence of 17% in 3744 unselected BC patients from the British Columbia Cancer Agency has been reported recently[88]. These results are in line with an another study assigned 281 of 1726 cases as TN (16,3%)[89]. In the randomized HRBC collectives only Hannemann et al. investigated the incidence of TN phenotype in the Dutch study and shown that 137 of 753 tumors were stained as TN (18%)[90]. 24% of tumors from a conservatively treated database of Yale University School of Medicine were classified as TN[57]. So far the highest incidence of 26,4% was reported by Carey et al in the Carolina Study[52]. This increase could be partly explained by more American-African participants, who have significantly more frequently TN BC. This finding was confirmed by a further population-based study from California[91]. The TN incidence of 23% in a prospectively collected data of BC patients treated by neoadjuvant chemotherapy at the MD Anderson Cancer Center has been reported by Liedtke et al. [58].

In our study 28% of tumors were defined as TN. This small difference to other studies can be partly explained by unique high risk patient set in our analysis and small sample size.

### 4.2.3.2. Correlation basal-like and triple-negative status

We have found that only 33% of TN tumors were clustered as basal-like, although 80% of basal-like tumors were TN. Even 12% of luminal tumors were clinically triple-negative. There are 29 TN cases (44%), which were completely negative for all measured basal markers (EGFR, Ck5 and 17, vimentin, c-kit) even though the positive correlation has been observed between TN phenotype and all basal markers. There is evidence, that TN phenotype is not an ideal correlate of basal-like BC. Two expression profiling studies where the expression of hormone receptors was analysed in tumours classified according to the "intrinsic gene list", 5-45% of basal-like BC expressed ER[64, 92]. In addition, Rouzier et al. have demonstrated that 14% of basal-like subtype express Her-2/neu[92]. On the other hand, triple-negative tumours are not necessarily basal-like BC. Tan et al., found that 6/31 (19%) of the triple negative tumours were negative for both EGFR and

basal CKs, whilst 15/207 (7.3%) of non-triple negative tumours were positive for basal markers[93]. In the recently published comparison of triple negative and five marker method in identification of basal-like BC, 17% of tumor were stained as triple-negative and only 9% as basal-like by 5 biomarkers[88].

Similarly to other studies the positive correlation of TN status and younger age of patients[91], similarly as for basal-like BC[52] could be also confirmed by our study. A significantly higher risk for local relapse in basal-like subtype and borderline significance (p=0,06) for increase of visceral metastasis risk in TN cases have been shown.

Several studies reported positive significant association of TNBC with visceral and lower risk for bone metastasis[55] or distant relapse as whole[57]. Several current studies identify TN phenotype also as predispositinated to cerebral metastasis and interestingly correlated with shorter median survival of approximately only 4-5 months after their occur compared with 11-12 months in other subtypes[94]. Regarding to local relapse the risk remains unclear. Rodriguez-Penilla revealed increased risk of local relapse in basal-like BC (defined by TN phenotype and CK5 and/or EGFR expression) in 258 node-negative patients[55]. In contrast to these results a study from Yale University revealed similar local relapse rates in TN and non TN BC, and found a significant difference only in ipsilateral axillary node relapse in 482 patients (117 were TN) treated by breast conserving surgery[57]. Dent et al. reported similar rates of local relapse (13 % in TN and 12% in non-TN, p=0.77), but shorter time to occur of event in TN vs. non-TN BC (2.8 vs. 4.2. years, p=0.02). The significant association of likelihood of distant relapse and death was pronounced within the first 5 years after diagnosis, but not later[56].

The recently published randomized study from the Danish group in 1000 patients treated by mastectomy and radiotherapy demonstrates the higher risk for locoregional relapse in TN BC and no additional benefit for radiotherapy after radical surgery in this subtype compared with patients with HR positive disease[95]. An another study of Nguyen et al. reported HR of 7.1 for basal-like (defined as TN) tumors for local relapse after lumpectomy and radiation therapy compared with luminal A (ER/PR + and Her-2/neu -) subtype 732 patients after 70 months of median follow up. The highest incidence of visceral metastases was also found in TN (HR 2,3) and luminal B (defined as HR and Her-2/neu positive) subtype[96].

#### 4.2.3. Prognosis

In regard to the molecular classification as prognostic tool in HRBC our data are the world's first reported in this heavily treated collective.

Of the evaluated molecular markers, protein cluster subgroups (high proliferative and G3 associated basal-like and Her-2/neu were summarized due to similar 5 year RFS rates by Kaplan-Meier analysis and small size of subgroups) have overweighed all other single markers as independent prognostic factors for increased risk of relapse or death.

Some studies revealed prognostic impact of TN (defined by absent expression of HR and Her-2/neu) in patients treated by adjuvant/neoadjuvant chemotherapy [57, 58, 60]. In the study of Hanemann et al. TN and Her-2/neu subtypes had significantly worse RFS and OS compared with HR positive subtype in HRBC patients[90]. Tan et al. reported also worse DFS and OS in 245 patients homogenously treated by anthracyclines [93].

The TN phenotype, which was the spotlight of our interest, had no independent prognostic impact in TN phenotype and significantly worse prognosis in basal-like BC within our study collective could play a important role for clinical routine. Recently Nielsen et al. reported the most comprehensive study worldwide in 3744 patients, where 17,4 % were identified as triple negative and 9% as basal-like using previously reported 5 marker method (HR, Her-2/neu, EGFR and/or CK5/6)[88]. The authors hypothesized, that negative impact of TN phenotype is affected only by a subgroup of basal tumors within TN collective. Patients with tumors identified as basal-like had a significantly worse outcome compared with other triple-negative cases. Particularly in patients treated by adjuvant anthracycline-based chemotherapy the addition of basal markers allowed the identification of a subgroup with higher risk for relapse. These results are in line with the previously reported study of Rakha et al. where a worse prognosis was associated to basal subtype (positive for basal markers) within the TN cases particularly in node-negative patients has been found[89].

Although there several studies indicating the worse outcome of Her-2/neu and basal-like subtypes by univariate analysis, as discussed above, there are very limited data comparing prognostic value of multiple protein expression with single markers by multivariate analysis. To our best knowledge there is no published trial investigating molecular classification as prognostic tool. The significant prognostic impact by multivariate analysis including several single conventional markers (e.g. tumor size, grade, age, etc.) has been demonstrated only for gene expression signature (e.g. 70

gene[48] or genomic grade signature[97]), which are significantly associated with basallike or Her-2/neu subtypes[50].

## 4.2.4. Prediction

# 4.2.4.1. Age

Within most of the above mentioned trials as well in the WSG AM-01 trial, young patient age was demonstrated as a predictive factor for benefit from dose intensification and/or dose dense chemotherapy[11, 13, 28, 40, 76, 98]. The updated analysis of EBCTG overview confirmed these observations and highlighted more pronounced effect of adjuvant chemotherapy in patients younger than50 years old. In this group the allocation of anthracycline-based polychemotherapy was associated with 38% reduction of risk of death compared with 20% in patients older than 50 years old [11]. In contrast Muss et al. have shown similar benefits of chemotherapy in all age groups treated within CALBG trials[99]. The different pattern could be due to the aggressive biological profile (e.g. higher incidence of basal-like subtype) in younger patients.

# 4.2.4.2. HR Status

Ovarian ablation due to HD has been extensively discussed as one potential mechanism of action in hormone sensitive disease. Three trials reported better survival trend for HD within the HR positive subgroup[29, 76, 90]. Nevertheless as reported for other "dose dense" trials, the strongest benefits from HD in our own trial were found in HR negative disease[30, 40, 42]. These effects are very similar to overall chemotherapy efficacy reported for conventional chemotherapy trials[11, 42]. Rates of chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea were high in both therapy arms of our study (78% vs. 97%). However, it appears that biological characteristics such as proliferation and drug resistance within the luminal molecular classification subtype may be the decisive mechanisms for this correlation. This hypothesis is supported by molecular classification, where several markers of chemoresistance, like bcl-2 were expressed in the luminal A/B subtype.

In a clinical decision framework (HD vs. DD) the presence of three therapy interactions as found here by multivariate interaction analysis would imply that the benefit or risk associated with HD depends on which of the eight possible combinations (some of which are rare due to correlations) of the binary variables for grade, EGFR status, and triple negative status is present.

### 4.2.4.3.Grade

Poor nuclear grade, which is frequently associated with high proliferation and negative HR, was the strongest predictor for benefit from HD in our study and in other trials[76]. The predictive impact of G3 has been shown here by multivariate interaction analysis for the first time. More precisely, G3 patients in HRBC appear to benefit from HD rather than DD. Exceptions were the patients EGFR positive tumors who are not triple negative, who would appear to fare better with DD, all other things being equal. In only one study have G1 and low mitotic activity (next to age under 40 years old) been reported to correlate with benefit from HD, although this trial randomized 885 patients[13].

Our results regarding HD are fully consistent with chemosensitivity profiles based on negative HR, G3 status, as reported in patients intensively monitored under neoadjuvant chemotherapy[62].

#### 4.2.4.5. Her-2/neu

Her-2/neu status has been identified in several randomized studies as well in our study as a reliable prognostic factor for poorer outcome in HRBC[100, 101] as well as in unselected cohorts of patients. In our study, hazard ratios for therapy are comparable in both groups of Her-2/neu status with significant benefit of HD in Her-2/neu negative and non-significant in Her-2/neu positive disease. These results are in line with other trials which used similar anthracycline doses in both treatment arms.[46]

However, negative Her-2/neu status correlates significantly with benefit from HD, as reported by Rodenhuis et al.[67], who used a 25% lower cumulative anthracycline dose in the HD arm compared to the standard arm. The proposed explanation of this observation (as being due to associated Topo II $\alpha$  amplification in Her-2/neu positive disease as a target for anthracycline efficacy) was not confirmed in the recently published study of Hannemann et al.[90] Only 22% of the tumors in the Dutch study had co-amplification of Topo II $\alpha$  and Her-2/neu, and there were no survival differences between both therapy groups in relation to Topo II $\alpha$  status[90]. In contrast to these results, patients with positive Her-2/neu status and associated Topo II $\alpha$  amplification (37%) had the most prolonged benefit from tailored dose-escalated FEC compared with HD (CTCb) in the sub-study of Tanner et al. in 396 tumors (75%) from the Scandinavian high dose trial. In the control arm the median total anthracycline dose was 4.3 times higher than in the HD arm[100]. In our study we have measured the protein expression of topoisomerase li $\alpha$  and have found the significant correlation of its expression with the high proliferative subtypes (her-2/neu and basal-like). It remains controversial what can be the optimal way to measure

anthracycline sensitivity in regard to Topo II (ampfilication/deletion/abnormal protein expression)[102].

Several studies have identified positive Her-2/neu status as a global marker, particularly for dose/schedule-response anthracycline sensitivity[40, 103] and for resistance to alkylating compounds[104], particularly in HD regimens in phase II trials[77, 105, 106]. A recently published meta-analysis of 5099 patients supports the conclusion of significant benefit of anthracycline-based vs. non-anthracycline-based chemotherapy only in Her-2/neu positive BC[107].

The significant benefit of HD vs. DD in Her-2/neu molecular subtype in our study in contrast to rather negative impact of Her-2/neu as single marker confirms the complex network within the very chemosensitive Her-2/neu subtype[59]. It could be hypothesized that the significant correlation of Her-2/neu subtype with G3, which is a highly predictive factor of benefit from rapidly cycled tandem HD by interaction analysis overweighs the negative impact of Her-2/neu at the resistance to alkylating agents, used for dose intensification. A second argument could be a expression p53 protein within the whole Her-2/neu subtype.

Beyond trastuzumab, optimal chemotherapy regimens in Her-2/neu positive breast cancer and its combination with HD in HRBC[108] remain to be defined. In particular, further investigations of the impact of several cytotoxic agents and their interaction with Topo II $\alpha$ are needed in Her-2/neu positive HRBC, and this issue should preferentially be addressed by randomized trials.

# 4.3. Role of triple negativity and basal-like subtype as predictive factors

Triple negative breast cancer is of particular clinical interest because the chemotherapy is the only treatment option in this subgroup of patients. In our study, young triple negative (defined as ER, PR and Her-2/neu negative) patients benefited most from rapidly cycled tandem HD. In the TN group 5 year EFS rates were estimated at 71% in the HD arm and at 26% in the DD arm of the study. This trend to better efficacy of HD in TNBC was confirmed at borderline significance by other research groups[90]. The similar result has been observed in the basal-like subtype in our study but didn't reach statistical significance. This fact can reflect also the smaller size of basal-like cohort due to wide distribution of triple-negative cases between several subtypes (at first basal-like and MMN).

In regard to the molecular classification Her-2/neu and basal-like subtypes responded significantly better to the rapidly cycled tandem HD compared with luminal A and particularly B subtype, where no difference between both treatments (HD vs. DD) has been observed.

Basal-like and/or TN BC is identified as a highly chemosensitive phenotype of BC by several studies. In vitro studies revealed different response patterns to 5-fluoruracil and anthracycline chemotherapy in luminal and basal cell lines[109]. Rouzier et al. identified molecular classification by microarray analysis in 82 patients with stage I-III BC and have shown impressive pathological complete remission (pCR) rates to preoperative paclitaxel/FAC chemotherapy of 45% in basal-like and Her-2/neu subtypes compared to only 6% in luminal subtypes[59]. In the second study by Carey et al. similar high pCR rate of 27% in TN (defined by 3 antibodies) BC vs. 7% in luminal tumors after 4 cycles of AC have been seen in 107 patients with stage II-III BC (32% had TNBC) [52]. Liedtke et al. demonstrated recently that TNBC has significantly higher pCR rates if treated by neoadjuvant chemotherapy of 22% vs. 11% compared with non-TNBC [58]. In both trials the worse survival of TN patients was addressed mainly to patients with residual disease after neoadjuvant chemotherapy and was most pronounced within the first 3 years after diagnosis, but not later. This study from the MD Anderson Cancer Institute involved more than 1100 patients provides further very important information. Patients who experienced a pCR had an excellent survival by DFS rates of 98% and 94% (TN and non-TN respectively) after 5 years irrespectively of their biological subtype. However if pCR was not achieved the 5 year DFS rates were 68% vs. 88% in favor of patients with non-TNBC. This experience led to conduction of a phase III trial by the Spanish breast cancer group, which investigates Capecitabine as maintenance treatment in patients with TNBC following standard adjuvant chemotherapy consisting of a minimum of six cycles.

The pCR rate to neoadjuvant FEC chemotherapy of 17% has been reported in TNBC vs. only 4% in non-triple negative cases[110]. At the same time different other studies have shown negative impact of TN status on survival in conventionally "A-treated" cohorts of patients[93, 111]. There are limited data from randomized trials investigate impact of implementation of taxanes in the adjuvant setting. Hayes et al. confirmed a similar survival benefit for substitution of 4 cycles of paclitaxel to 4 EC in the whole HR negative (as well Her-2/neu negative as positive cohort)[112]. The French group of Jacquemier et al presented analysis from the PACS 01 trial compared 6 cycles of FEC to 3 cycles of FEC followed by 3 cycles of Docetaxel in node positive BC. This group has applied 33

markers to identify two molecular subtypes (one "basal" with 531 (48% of investigated 1100 tumors) and one "luminal" similarly to their first "prognostic" study). Basal subtype had worse survival compared with luminal but significantly better response to taxanebased therapy than a control group (HR=0.65; p=0.009)[113]. The first analysis from GEICAM 9906 trial shows, that 8 cycles of paclitaxel weekly (100 mg/m<sup>2</sup>) after 4 cycles of FEC vs. 6 cycles of FEC are also effective mostly in the 243 triple-negative BC patients (HR=0.58 (0.35-0.94), p=0,02)[71]. The paclitaxel weekly data became more interesting after presentation of first results of the US Oncology trial. This group compared conventional 4xAC-4xPaclitaxel q3w vs. 4xA/Paclitaxel followed by 12xPaclitaxel weekly. Particularly in the triple negative subgroup (378 patients) the best 5 year OS data in favour of paclitaxel weekly arm have been obtained (87% vs. 79%, HR=0,59, p=0,037)[114]. There is also a small phase 2 study presented at the SABCS in 2007 which arose pCR rate of 67% in TNBC patients treated by paclitaxel weekly and carboplatin AUC6 q4w[115].

Rugo et al reported better PFS (4,1 months vs. 2,1 months) and ORR (27% vs. 9%) in TNBC patients resistant to anthracycline/taxane based chemotherapy for combination of Ixabepilone and Capecitabine compared with Capecitabine alone, which is the current standard in this situation[116]. Taken together with results from a neoadjuvant trial from the same group, where Ixabepilone was associated with a 26% pCR rate in TNBC as a single agent, that is leading to design of PACS 08 trial, which investigates Ixabepilone in adjuvant setting in TNBC.

What can be an explanation for this paradox?

Several proliferative mechanisms like mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) and protein kinase components of the ERK pathway are beside of growth factors like EGFR and c-kit or p53 mutation critical points of development and therapy response in TNBC[117]. MAPK immunhistochemical overexpression has been recently shown to be associated with resistance against anthracyclines and shorter relapse-free survival in 109 unselected TN BC patients[118]. Ivanov et al. reported that small heat-shock protein Alpha B crystalline was commonly expressed in TNBC, inducing epidermal growth factor independent growth, cell migration and invasion and constitutively activated MAPK and ERK pathway and decreased response of tumors to preoperative chemotherapy (AC or AC followed by Taxol)[119]. Even Caveolin-1, which is frequently expressed by triple-negative phenotype[120] and acts as receptor for transcytosis for transportation of some drugs like ABI-007 (Abraxane) from blood to tumor. Abraxane is a novel albumin-bound

paclitaxel particle, that has shown greater efficacy and a favorable toxicity profile than conventional paclitaxel[121]. In light of fact, that there is a growing incidence for better efficacy of dose-dense (e.g. paclitaxel weekly) regimens in TNBC it could be beneficial to make use of the biological pathways to increase efficacy of chemotherapy.

Based on several proliferative pathways within the TNBC the another important point to overcome resistance could be dose and density of applied chemotherapy. Our actual data support this hypothesis in a impressive wise. Analysis of Le Tourneau et al. revealed an enhance of response (pCR rate) to a neoadjuvant chemotherapy from 13% by 4 cycles of conventional FEC to 47% in patients treated by intensified FEC (EC 70/700 mg /m<sup>2</sup>, d1+8, 5-FU d1-5)[122].

Several studies have also identified triple-negative/basal-like as a typical phenotype of BRCA1 associated tumors[123]. Significant associations of BRCA1 mutated cases with EGFR expression (BRCA1 mutated vs. non-mutated controls: 67% vs. 21%, p<0,001), ER negativity (90,4% vs. 33%, p<0,001), Her-2/neu negativity (97% vs. 85%, p=0,018), Ck 5/6 overexpression (58% vs. 7%, p<0,001), p 53 mutations (66% vs. 33%, p=0,05)[124, 125] have been shown in numerous investigations.

In the recently presented study of Kandel et al. this correlation was particularly pronounced in younger patients or in patients with familiy history of breast cancer[126], which are frequently associated with p53 mutations. 11,3% patients had a BRCA1 mutation in an unselected cohort of 177 TN patients. In the <40 years old group there were 23,5% BRCA1 mutated compared with 0% in the group >60 years old. In the group <50 years old with familiar history the incidence of 29% has been reached compared to no patient older than 50 years old not related to family history.

In the study of Sorlie et al.[53] all BRCA1 associated cases are failed into the basal-like subtype, where other sporadic TN cases have been found. It seems to be evidence, that frequent cytogenetic aberrations, e.g. deletion of 5q chromosome, which are typical for BRCA1 mutated cases are similarly frequent in the sporadic triple-negative controls[127, 128]. A second point of discussion should be the significant association with p53 mutation, although the spectrum of mutations is distinct from the from that occurring in sporadic TN tumors[124]. One actual study published in Oncogene reports, that ataxia-telangiectasia-mutated (ATM) kinase, which is a key transducer of DNA damage signals within genome and a tumor suppressor, is aberrantly reduced in a very similar way in both BRCA1 (33%) or 2 (30%) mutant familiar breast cancer or in sporadic TNBC (20%), vs. only 10% in other cases[129].

There are controversial reports about methylation status of BRCA1 and its action in basallike BC. There is one report indicate the lower expression of BRCA1 mRNA and higher activity of negative regulators of BRCA in sporadic basal-like BC compared with controls matched for age and grade, but the mechanisms of hypomethylation remain be unclear[130].

BRCA1 plays a central role in the repair of double-stranded DNA breaks by homologous recombination. A lack of BRCA1 results in genomic instability and therefore cancer disposition. Loss or inactivation of BRCA1 function is thought to be associated with sensitivity to DNA-damaging (e.g. alkylating) chemotherapy, which was used for dose intensification within our study [131], especially to agents resulting into cross links, such as Mitomycin C and platinum drugs[131]. The sensitivity of BRCA1 mutated cells to microtubule-agents, like taxanes or vinca-alkaloids is controversial. A recent preclinical study demonstrated that overexpression of p63 (a p53 related transcription factor) and p73 (similarly p53 associated) is commonly found in the TNBC and is associated with sensitivity to cisplatin, supporting the hypothesis, that TNBC should have similar sensitivity like BRCA deficient tumors[132]. In a study from the Dana Faber Cancer Institute preoperative treatment with 4 cycles of cisplatin as single agent led to pCR rate of 22% in 28 patients with TNBC[133]. The European Institue of Oncology used a polychemotherapy approach and applied preoperative chemotherapy with epirubicin, cisplatin and fluoruracil followed by paclitaxel in 30 patients with TNBC. This treatment led to the pCR rate of 40%[134] and Spanish group evaluates a neoadjuvant docetaxelcontaining chemotherapy vs. carboplatin-containing chemotherapy in TNBC.

There are only few studies investigated effects of chemotherapy in BRCA1 deficient BC. A retrospective study from Israel investigated the effect of Epirubicin/Cyclophosphamide neoadjuvant chemotherapy in Ashkenazi Jews. There are impressive 92% pCR rate in 10 from 11 patients with hereditary BC (BRCA1 or 2) compared with 30% in 38 sporadic controls[135]. In contrast a recent study presented at the last ASCO Meeting investigated the effect of neadjuvant CEF (100 mg/m) in 393 patients 55 form them were TN and 14 pateints in this group had confirmed BRCA1 mutation. There were 44% pCR in TNBC as whole and only 17% in BRCA1 deficient tumors[136]. Goffin et al. have shown worse prognosis of BRCA1 mutated cases if not treated by chemotherapy compared with controls with the same patient characteristics[137], but an another recent study didn't confirm these observations[138]. All studies in BRCA1 mutant breast cancer are of retrospective nature, which makes comparisons very difficult to interpret.

There are several ongoing studies in patients with e.g. metastatic TNBC where cis- or carboplatin are used as chemotherapy drugs. The National Cancer Research Institute Triple Negative Breast cancer Trial (TNT) randomly assigns patients in 1:1 ratio to carboplatin or docetaxel, on progression patients cross over to the altenate regimen, An another phase II trail on cisplatin is investigating p63/73 as biomarkers to potentially predict response to cisplatin[139].

Another approach involves the poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors. Singlestranded breaks are usually repaired by the gene by the base excision repair pathway, of which PARP1 is one of the central components. Ion the absence of this pathway singlestranded breaks degenerate to doble-stranded breaks, which are not repaired in BRCA1 null cells.There is some preclinical evidence, that BRCA1 null cells are sensitive to PARP1 inhibitors[140].

Basal-like breast cancer has been shown to be strongly associated with EGFR expression. In EGFR negative patients, either G3 or triple negativity imply a benefit from HD. In EGFR positive patients, who had poor outcome by multivariate analysis, a benefit from HD is apparent only for tumors (the large majority) that are both triple negative and G3. However, in view of the small numbers in this subgroup and the methodological difficulties regarding EGFR testing (e.g. determination activated/total expression)[141], our results need to be substantiated before definite conclusions are possible.

Yet, our preliminary results suggest the need for additional targeted therapies, e.g. the use of EGFR inhibitors particularly in combination with adequate chemotherapeutical options in this subgroup. Based on the hypothesis of better efficacy of Platinum-drugs in BRCA1 deficient BC and preliminary results of e.g. enhance of radiosensitivity by use of Cetuximab Carey and colleagues presented initial results from TBCRC 001, a phase 2 study that randomized patients with metastatic TNBC to either Cetuximab or combination with weekly Carboplatin[142]. This report described the results from an interim analysis of the monotherapy arm only. In the analysis, 21 patents were accrued; out of this group, 1 patient (4%) experienced a prolonged partial response, 4 patients (19%) had stable disease for at least 8 weeks, and the rest developed disease progression. Upon progression, 19 patients were crossed over to the combination therapy arm, wherein 4 (28%) had a partial response and 4 more had stable disease. Due to the low observed response rate with monotherapy, that arm was closed to further accrual; results from the combination arm are awaited. O'Shaughnessy et al. also presented data on the use of Cetuximab in a phase 2 study of weekly Irinotecan and Carboplatin, with or without

Cetuximab. In the overall intention-to-treat study population, response rate improved only marginally from 28% to 33% with the addition of Cetuximab. Approximately half of the study population (78 patients) had triple-negative tumors. In that subgroup, Cetuximab was associated with a response rate of 49% compared with 30% when chemotherapy was used alone. No significant differences in PFS or overall survival were observed in any subgroup, and significant toxicity led to dose reductions in starting doses of the chemotherapy agents[143]. These results confirm the previously reported study of Corkey et al investigated impact of several EGR inhibitors in TNBC alone (erlotinib, gefitinib, Cetuximab) or in combination with Docetaxel or Carboplatin. This study revealed only limited efficacy of single substances in TNBC in vitro, but enhance in response to CT as combination.

Two recent reports from in-vitro studies support the use of small molecule multi-tyrosine kinase inhibitor Dasatinib, currently approved for treatment of bcr-abl mutated chronic myeloid leukemia resistant to Imatinib, particularly in this subgroup of BC, where diverse tyrosine kinase receptors like stem cell factor receptor (c-kit) are over-expressed and/or mutated [144, 145]. A second candidate drug for improvement of treatment results in TNBC could be sunitinib malate, an oral multitargeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor, that inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR), platelet-derived growth factor receptor, c-kit and colony-stimulating factor-1 receptor. In a recently published phase II study activity of monotherapy in metastatic disease resistant to anthracyclines and taxanes has been shown particularly in TNBC and Her-2/positive patients[146].

There are numerous ongoing phase II trials investigating effects of EGFR and VEGF inhibitors as well drugs targeting DNA and microtubulis in TNBC, which results are highly expected and will be immediately important for clinical management of TNBC where limited treatment options are available[139].

An another important point of basal-like BC is the possible prevention and an early diagnosis of disease. Large phase III prevention trials have shown that therapy by tamoxifen could reduce the risk of HR positive BC by approximately a half, that underlines again the distinct biology of HR positive and negative disease. There is no option of therapeutical intervention to prevent basal-like BC, but epidemiological studies confirm that e.g. longer breastfeeding and more breastfeed children and normal weight reduce the risk of development of basal-like BC, but not of luminal A or B disease.

Unfortunately only a few studies revealed other mammographic patterns of TNBC, to be associated less frequently with microcalcifications and peritumoral DCIS [147], which

makes other diagnostic tools necessary, as well for TNBC and high-grade DCIS, as precursor of TNBC[148].

# 4.4. Conclusions

HD provided an independent relative benefit in the triple negative phenotype (as long as EGFR is negative) not attributable to the association of grade with triple negativity. The finding of a predictive impact of triple negativity is also remarkable considering the absence of a prognostic impact. This association could be one hypothetical explanation for our results.

In our study molecular classification has been identified as a very strong prognostic parameter, particularly in conventionally treated HRBC. Basal-like and Her-2/neu subtypes determined by k-clustering were strong predictors for poorer outcome, in line with other studies in HRBC[90]. HD efficacy was also more pronounced in these subtypes. No significant interaction between molecular subtypes and dose intensification in HRBC has yet been reported, possibly due to small subgroups.

In contrast, both triple negativity and G3 status as assessed by standard clinical methodology were highly predictive for HD efficacy in HRBC, as shown in our study by interaction analysis. This effect exceeds the predictive value of molecular subtypes for selection of patients for whom dose intensification could be warranted. One possible explanation could be the heterogeneous biology within TNBC. The another point is the distinct biology within the triple-negative tumors, including basal-like and non-basal-like tumors.

Following conclusions can be drown from my work:

- For the first time molecular classification could be identified in the HRBC by protein expression profile and k-clustering
- Basal-like and Her-2/neu subgroups have worse survival outcome compared with luminal subtypes
- Tumor size and HR status are valid prognostic factors within HRBC like unselected cohorts of patients for both EFS and OS
- Molecular subtypes are independent prognostic factors by multivariate analysis within randomized HRBC collective
- Age, tumor size, grade, HR, Her-2/neu and EGFR status were predictive for effects of HD.

- HD is mostly effective within triple-negative breast cancer and within Her-2/neu and basal-like subgroups identified by protein expression analysis
- Interactions multivariate analysis reveals particularly triple-negative and not basallike BC, grading and EGFR status as predictive markers of sensitivity to rapidly cycled tandem HD
- Diverse proliferative pathways and BRCA1 dysfunction within triple-negative/basallike are discussed as cause of worse outcome and higher sensitivity to chemotherapy in breast cancer
- Additional molecular options need further investigations in this poor prognosis subtype of BC within randomized trials

Before robust and standardized subtyping using gene arrays is available, the immunhistochemical determination of TN status in addition to of routine tumor grade seems to be feasible for patient selection for dose intense/dense regimens in clinical routine.

In view of the clinical therapeutic challenges in management of tumors with a triple negative phenotype up to now, the finding of a predictive impact of triple negativity by multivariate interaction analysis with adjuvant HD vs. DD therapy could have very important clinical consequences. The HD approach is intended to overcome some chemoresistance mechanisms and to target rapidly proliferating tumor cells within a distinct molecular chemo-sensitive subgroup and would provide further information for defining optimal chemotherapy regimens within triple-negative tumors. All of the observed benefit from HD can be attributed to patients with triple negative and/or G3 tumors, as demonstrated by interaction analysis. Regrettably these results are revealed by retrospective unplanned analysis and are about a small subgroup of triple.negatve tumors. But in my opinion our results support design of randomized trials within a defined biological chemosensitive subtype, such as triple negative breast cancer, and prospective implementation of molecular biological markers for HRBC.

## 5. References

- 1. RKI, Krebs in Deutschland 2003-2004 Häufigkeiten und Trends. 2008.
- Glass, A.G., J.V. Lacey, Jr., J.D. Carreon, et al., Breast Cancer Incidence, 1980 2006: Combined Roles of Menopausal Hormone Therapy, Screening Mammography, and Estrogen Receptor Status. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 2007. 99(15): p. 1152-1161.
- Veronesi U, Boyle P, Goldhirsch A, et al., Breast Cancer. The Lancet, 2005. 365(9472): p. 1727-1741.
- 4. Ernster, V.L., J. Barclay, K. Kerlikowske, et al., Incidence of and treatment for ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast. JAMA, 1996. 275(12): p. 913-918.
- 5. Beckmann MW, Niederacher D, and B. HG, Multistep carcinogenesis of breast cancer and tumour heterogeneity. J Mol Med, 1997. 75: p. 429-39.
- Goldhirsch, A., W.C. Wood, R.D. Gelber, et al., Progress and promise: highlights of the international expert consensus on the primary therapy of early breast cancer 2007. Ann Oncol, 2007. 18(7): p. 1133-1144.
- Fisher B, Bauer M, Wickerham DL, et al., Relation of number of positive axillary nodes to the prognosis of patients with primary breast cancer. An NSABP update. Cancer, 1983. 52(9): p. 1551-7.
- Montero AJ, Rouzier R, Lluch A, et al., The natural history of breast carcinoma in patients with > or = 10 metastatic axillary lymph nodes before and after the advent of adjuvant therapy: a multiinstitutional retrospective study. Cancer, 2005. 104(2): p. 229-35.

- Jones SE, Moon TE, Bonadonna G, et al., Comparison of different trials of adjuvant chemotherapy in stage II breast cancer using a natural history data base. Am J Clin Oncol, 1987. 10(5): p. 387-95.
- Wilson RE, Donegan WL, Mettlin C, et al., The 1982 national survey of carcinoma of the breast in the United States by the American College of Surgeons. Surg Gyn Obstet, 1984. 159(4): p. 309-18.
- Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group and EBCTCG., Effects of chemotherapy and hormonal therapy for early breast cancer on recurrence and 15year survival: an overview of the randomised trials. The Lancet, 2005. 365(9472): p. 1687-717.
- 12. Buzdar, A.U., S.W. Kau, G.N. Hortobagyi, et al., Clinical course of patients with breast cancer with ten or more positive nodes who were treated with doxorubicin-containing adjuvant therapy. Cancer, 1992. 69(2): p. 448-52.
- Rodenhuis, S., M. Bontenbal, L.V. Beex, et al., High-dose chemotherapy with hematopoetic stem-cell rescue for high risk breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 2003. 349(1): p. 7-16.
- Tallman, M.S., R. Gray, N.J. Robert, et al., Conventional adjuvant chemotherapy with or without high-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation in high-risk breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 2003. 349(1): p. 17-26.
- De Laurentiis, M., G. Cancello, D. D'Agostino, et al., Taxane-Based Combinations As Adjuvant Chemotherapy of Early Breast Cancer: A Meta-Analysis of Randomized Trials. J Clin Oncol, 2008. 26(1): p. 44-53.
- Roche, H., P. Fumoleau, M. Spielmann, et al., Sequential Adjuvant Epirubicin-Based and Docetaxel Chemotherapy for Node-Positive Breast Cancer Patients: The FNCLCC PACS 01 Trial. J Clin Oncol, 2006. 24(36): p. 5664-5671.
- 17. Martin M, Pienkowski T, Mackey J, et al., Adjuvant docetaxel for node-positive breast cancer. N Engl J Med, 2005. 352(22): p. 2302-13.
- Battelli, N., C. Massacesi, C. Braconi, et al., Paclitaxel and Epirubicin Followed by Cyclophosphamide, Methotrexate and 5-Fluorouracil for Patients With Stage IIIC Breast Cancer With Ten or More Involved Axillary Lymph Nodes. Am J Clin Oncol, 2006. 29(4): p. 380-4.
- Day RS, Shackney SE, and P. WP, The analysis of relapse-free survival curves: implications for evaluating intensive systemic adjuvant treatment regimens for breast cancer. Br J Cancer, 2005. 92(1): p. 47-54.

- 20. Skipper HE, Schabel FM Jr, Mellett LB, et al., Implications of biochemical, cytokinetic, pharmacologic, and toxicologic relationships in the design of optimal therapeutic schedules. Cancer Chemother Rep, 1970. 54(6): p. 431-50.
- 21. Peters, W.P., M. Ross, J.J. Vredenburgh, et al., High-dose chemotherapy and autologous bone marrow support as consolidation after standard-dose adjuvant therapy for high-risk primary breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 1993. 11(6): p. 1132-1143.
- 22. Norton, L. and R. Simon, The Norton-Simon hypothesis revisited. Cancer Treat Rep, 1986. 70(1): p. 163-9.
- 23. Roche H, Viens P, Biron P, et al., High-dose chemotherapy for breast cancer: the French PEGASE experience. Cancer Control, 2003. 10(1): p. 42-7.
- Zander, A.R., C. Schmoor, N. Kroger, et al., Randomized trial of high-dose adjuvant chemotherapy with autologous hematopoietic stem-cell support versus standard-dose chemotherapy in breast cancer patients with 10 or more positive lymph nodes: overall survival after 6 years of follow-up. Ann Oncol, 2008: p. mdn023.
- Leonard, R., Lind, M, Twelves, C et al, Conventional adjuvant chemotherapy versus single-cycle, autograft-supported, high-dose, late-intensification chemotherapy in high-risk breast cancer patients: a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst, 2004. 96(14): p. 1076-83.
- 26. Coombes RC, Howell A, Emson M, et al., High dose chemotherapy and autologous stem cell transplantation as adjuvant therapy for primary breast cancer patients with four or more lymph nodes involved: long-term results of an international randomised trial. Ann Oncol, 2005. 16: p. 726-34.
- Bergh, J., T. Wiklund, B. Erikstein, et al., Tailored fluorouracil, epirubicin and cyclophosphamide compared with marrow-supported high-dose chemotherapy as adjuvant treatment for high-risk breast cancer: a randomised trial. The Lancet, 2000. 356(9239): p. 1384-1391.
- Peters, W., Rosner, GL, Vredenburgh JJ et al., Prospective, randomized comparison of high-dose chemotherapy with stem-cell support versus intermediate-dose chemotherapy after surgery and adjuvant chemotherapy in women with high-risk primary breast cancer: a report of CALGB 9082, SWOG 9114, and NCIC MA-13. J Clin Oncol, 2005. 23(10): p. 2191-200.

- 29. Basser RL, O'Neill A, Martinelli G, et al., Multicycle dose-intensive chemotherapy for women with high-risk primary breast cancer: results of International Breast Cancer Study Group Trial 15-95. J Clin Oncol, 2006. 24(3): p. 370-8.
- 30. Nitz U, S. Mohrmann, J. Fischer, et al., Comparison of rapidly cycled tandem highdose chemotherapy plus peripheral-blood stem-cell support versus dose-dense conventional chemotherapy for adjuvant treatment of high-risk breast cancer: results of a multicentre phase III trial. The Lancet, 2005. 366(9501): p. 1935-44.
- Berry D, Ueno N, and J. MM, High-dose chemotherapy with autologous stem-cell support versus standard-dose chemotherapy: meta-analysis of individual patient data from 15 randomized adjuvant breast cancer trials. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2007. 106(Supplement 1): p. Abstract 11.
- 32. Fisher, B., S. Anderson, D.L. Wickerham, et al., Increased intensification and total dose of cyclophosphamide in a doxorubicin-cyclophosphamide regimen for the treatment of primary breast cancer: findings from National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project B-22. J Clin Oncol, 1997. 15(5): p. 1858-1869.
- Fisher, B., S. Anderson, A. DeCillis, et al., Further Evaluation of Intensified and Increased Total Dose of Cyclophosphamide for the Treatment of Primary Breast Cancer: Findings From National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project B-25. J Clin Oncol, 1999. 17(11): p. 3374-3388.
- 34. Henderson IC, Berry DA, Demtri GD, et al., Improved outcomes from adding sequential paclitaxel but not from escalating doxorubicin dose in an adjuvant chemotherapy regimen for patients with node-positive primary breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2003. 21(6): p. 976-83.
- Wood, W.C., D.R. Budman, A.H. Korzun, et al., Dose and Dose Intensity of Adjuvant Chemotherapy for Stage II, Node-Positive Breast Carcinoma. N Engl J Med, 1994. 330(18): p. 1253-1259.
- Piccart, M.J., A. Di Leo, M. Beauduin, et al., Phase III Trial Comparing Two Dose Levels of Epirubicin Combined With Cyclophosphamide With Cyclophosphamide, Methotrexate, and Fluorouracil in Node-Positive Breast Cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2001. 19(12): p. 3103-3110.
- Benefit of a High-Dose Epirubicin Regimen in Adjuvant Chemotherapy for Node-Positive Breast Cancer Patients With Poor Prognostic Factors: 5-Year Follow-Up Results of French Adjuvant Study Group 05 Randomized Trial. J Clin Oncol, 2001. 19(3): p. 602-611.

- Citron, M.L., D.A. Berry, C. Cirrincione, et al., Randomized trial of dose-dense conventionally scheduled and sequential versus concurrent combination chemotherapy as postoperative adjuvant treatment of node-positive primary breast cancer: first report of intergroup Trial C 9741/ Cancer and Leukemia Group B Trial 9741. J Clin Oncol, 2003. 21(8): p. 1431-9.
- Moebus VJ, Lueck HJ, Thomssen C, et al., Dose-dense sequential chemotherapy with epirubicin (E), paclitaxel (T) and cyclophosphamide (C) (ETC) in comparison to conventional dosed chemotherapy in high-risk breast cancer patients (4+ LN). Mature results of an AGO-trial. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2006. 100(Supplement 1): p. # 43.
- Venturini M, Del Mastro L, Aitini E, et al., Dose-dense adjuvant chemotherapy in early breast cancer patients: results from a randomized trial. J Natl Cancer Inst, 2005. 97(23): p. 1724-33.
- 41. Burnell, M., M. Levine, J. Chapman, et al., A randomized trial of CEF versus dose dense EC followed by paclitaxel versus AC followed by paclitaxel in women with node positive or high risk node negative breast cancer, NCIC CTG MA.21: Results of an interim analysis. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2007. 100(Supplement 1): p. Abstract 53.
- 42. Berry DA, Cirrincione C, Henderson IC, et al., Estrogen-receptor status and outcomes of modern chemotherapy for patients with node-positive breast cancer. JAMA, 2006. 295(14): p. 1658-67.
- 43. Gianni, A.M., G. Bonadonna, G. Michelangelo, et al., Updated 12-year results of a randomized clinical trial comparing standard-dose to high-dose myeloablative chemotherapy in the adjuvant treatment of breast cancer with more than three positive nodes (LN+). J Clin Oncol (Meeting Abstracts), 2007. 25(18\_suppl): p. 549-.
- Zander A. R., Kroeger N., Schmoor C., et al., Randomized trial of high-dose chemotherapy with autologous haematopoietic stem cell support vs. standard-dose chemotherapy in breast cancer patients with 10 or more positive lymph nodes: Overall survival after 6 years of follow up. ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings, 2006. 24: p. 672.
- 45. Rodenhuis, S., M. Bontenbal, Q.G.C.M. van Hoesel, et al., Efficacy of high-dose alkylating chemotherapy in HER2/neu-negative breast cancer. Ann Oncol, 2006. 17(4): p. 588-596.

- Kroger, N., K. Milde-Langosch, S. Riethdorf, et al., Prognostic and Predictive Effects of Immunohistochemical Factors in High-Risk Primary Breast Cancer Patients. Clin Cancer Res, 2006. 12(1): p. 159-168.
- 47. Perou, C.M., T. Sorlie, M.B. Eisen, et al., Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature, 2000. 406(6797): p. 747.
- 48. van 't Veer, L.J., H. Dai, M.J. van de Vijver, et al., Gene expression profiling predicts clinical outcome of breast cancer. Nature, 2002. 415(6871): p. 530.
- Paik, S., Tang, S. Gong, K. Steven, et al., Gene Expression and Benefit of Chemotherapy in Women With Node-Negative, Estrogen Receptor-Positive Breast Cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2006. 24: p. 3726-3734.
- 50. Fan, C., D.S. Oh, L. Wessels, et al., Concordance among Gene-Expression-Based Predictors for Breast Cancer. N Engl J Med, 2006. 355(6): p. 560-569.
- Nielsen, T.O., F.D. Hsu, K. Jensen, et al., Immunohistochemical and Clinical Characterization of the Basal-Like Subtype of Invasive Breast Carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res, 2004. 10(16): p. 5367-5374.
- 52. Carey, L.A., C.M. Perou, C.A. Livasy, et al., Race, Breast Cancer Subtypes, and Survival in the Carolina Breast Cancer Study. JAMA, 2006. 295(21): p. 2492-2502.
- Sorlie, T., R. Tibshirani, J. Parker, et al., Repeated observation of breast tumor subtypes in independent gene expression data sets. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2003. 100(14): p. 8418-8423.
- 54. Turner, N.C. and J.S. Reis-Filho, Basal-like breast cancer and the BRCA1 phenotype. Oncogene, 2006. 25(43): p. 5846.
- Rodriguez-Pinilla, S.M., D. Sarrio, E. Honrado, et al., Prognostic Significance of Basal-Like Phenotype and Fascin Expression in Node-Negative Invasive Breast Carcinomas. Clin Cancer Res, 2006. 12(5): p. 1533-1539.
- Dent, R., M. Trudeau, K.I. Pritchard, et al., Triple-Negative Breast Cancer: Clinical Features and Patterns of Recurrence. Clin Cancer Res, 2007. 13(15): p. 4429-4434.
- 57. Haffty, B.G., Q. Yang, M. Reiss, et al., Locoregional Relapse and Distant Metastasis in Conservatively Managed Triple Negative Early-Stage Breast Cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2006. 24(36): p. 5652-5657.
- Liedtke, C., C. Mazouni, K.R. Hess, et al., Response to Neoadjuvant Therapy and Long-Term Survival in Patients With Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2008. 26(8): p. 1275-1281.

- Rouzier R, Perou CM, Symmans WF, et al., Breast cancer molecular subtypes respond differently to preoperative chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2005, 2005. 11(16): p. 5678-85.
- Carey, L.A., E.C. Dees, L. Sawyer, et al., The Triple Negative Paradox: Primary Tumor Chemosensitivity of Breast Cancer Subtypes. Clin Cancer Res, 2007. 13(8): p. 2329-2334.
- 61. Perou CM, Sorlie T, Eisen MB, et al., Molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature, 2000. 406(6797): p. 747-52.
- 62. Colleoni M, Viale G, Zahrieh D, et al., Chemotherapy is more effective in patients with breast cancer not expressing steroid hormone receptors: a study of preoperative treatment. Clin Cancer Res, 2004. 10(19): p. 6622-8.
- 63. Elston CW and E.I., Pathological prognostic factors in breast cancer. I. The value of histological grade in breast cancer: experience from a large study with long-term follow-up. Histopathology, 1991. 19: p. 403-410.
- 64. Sorlie, T., C.M. Perou, R. Tibshirani, et al., Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2001. 98(19): p. 10869-10874.
- Makretsov, N.A., D.G. Huntsman, T.O. Nielsen, et al., Hierarchical Clustering Analysis of Tissue Microarray Immunostaining Data Identifies Prognostically Significant Groups of Breast Carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res, 2004. 10(18): p. 6143-6151.
- Jacquemier, J., C. Ginestier, J. Rougemont, et al., Protein Expression Profiling Identifies Subclasses of Breast Cancer and Predicts Prognosis. Cancer Res, 2005. 65(3): p. 767-779.
- 67. Rodenhuis S, Bontenbal M, van Hoesel QG, et al., Efficacy of high-dose alkylating chemotherapy in HER2/neu-negative breast cancer. Ann Oncol. (4), 2006. 17(4): p. 588-96.
- Berry, D., N. Ueno, and M. Johnson, High-dose chemotherapy with autologous stem-cell support versus standard-dose chemotherapy: meta-analysis of individual patient data from 15 randomized adjuvant breast cancer trials. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2007. 106(Supplement 1): p. Abstract 11.
- 69. Schmoor, C., W. Sauerbrei, G. Bastert, et al., Long-term prognosis of breast cancer patients with 10 or more positive lymph nodes treated with CMF. European journal of cancer (Oxford, England: 1990), 2001. 37(9): p. 1123.

- 70. Walker MJ, Osborne MD, Young DC, et al., The natural history of breast cancer with more than 10 positive nodes. 1995. 169(6): p. 575-79.
- 71. Rodriguez-Lescure, A., M. Martin, A. Ruiz, et al., Subgroup analysis of GEICAM 9906 trial comparing six cycles of FE90C (FEC) to four cycles of FE90C followed by 8 weekly paclitaxel administrations (FECP): Relevance of HER2 and hormonal status (HR). J Clin Oncol (Meeting Abstracts), 2007. 25(18\_suppl): p. 10598-.
- Moore, H.C.F., S.J. Green, J.R. Gralow, et al., Intensive Dose-Dense Compared With High-Dose Adjuvant Chemotherapy for High-Risk Operable Breast Cancer: Southwest Oncology Group/Intergroup Study 9623. J Clin Oncol, 2007. 25(13): p. 1677-1682.
- Linden, H.M., C.M. Haskell, S.J. Green, et al., Sequenced Compared With Simultaneous Anthracycline and Cyclophosphamide in High-Risk Stage I and II Breast Cancer: Final Analysis From INT-0137 (S9313). J Clin Oncol, 2007. 25(6): p. 656-661.
- 74. Nieto Y, Nawaz S, Shpall EJ, et al., Long-term analysis and prospective validation of a prognostic model for patients with high-risk primary breast cancer receiving high-dose chemotherapy. Clin Cancer Res, 2004. 10(8): p. 2609-17.
- 75. Faneyte IF, Peterse JL, Van Tinteren H, et al., Predicting early failure after adjuvant chemotherapy in high-risk breast cancer patients with extensive lymph node involvement. Clin Cancer Res, 2004. 10(13): p. 4457-63.
- 76. Zander, A.R., N. Kroeger, C. Schmoor, et al., High-dose chemotherapy with autologous hematopoietic stem-cell support compared with standard-dose chemotherapy in breast cancer patients with 10 or more positive lymph nodes: first results of a randomized trial. J Clin Oncol, 2004. 22(12): p. 2273-83.
- 77. Somlo G, Simpson JF, Frankel P, et al., Predictors of long-term outcome following high-dose chemotherapy in high-risk primary breast cancer. Br J Cancer, 2002.
  87(3): p. 281-8.
- Gruvberger, S., M. Ringner, Y. Chen, et al., Estrogen Receptor Status in Breast Cancer Is Associated with Remarkably Distinct Gene Expression Patterns. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(16): p. 5979-5984.
- 79. Dalia M. Abd El-Rehim, G.B.S.E.P.E.R.C.P.J.F.R.R.D.M.R.W.B.I.O.E., Highthroughput protein expression analysis using tissue microarray technology of a large well-characterised series identifies biologically distinct classes of breast

cancer confirming recent cDNA expression analyses. International Journal of Cancer, 2005. 116(3): p. 340-350.

- Laakso, M., M. Tanner, J. Nilsson, et al., Basoluminal Carcinoma: A New Biologically and Prognostically Distinct Entity Between Basal and Luminal Breast Cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 2006. 12(14): p. 4185-4191.
- 81. Kumar, R., R.K. Vadlamudi, and L. Adam, Apoptosis in mammary gland and cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer, 2000. 7(4): p. 257-269.
- 82. Fidler IJ and H. IR, Biological diversity in metastatic neoplasms: origins and implications. Science, 1982. 217(4564): p. 998-1003.
- Weigelt, B., Z. Hu, X. He, et al., Molecular Portraits and 70-Gene Prognosis Signature Are Preserved throughout the Metastatic Process of Breast Cancer. Cancer Res, 2005. 65(20): p. 9155-9158.
- Wang, Y., J.G.M. Klijn, Y. Zhang, et al., Gene-expression profiles to predict distant metastasis of lymph-node-negative primary breast cancer. Lancet, 2005. 365: p. 671-79.
- 85. Liu, R., X. Wang, G.Y. Chen, et al., The Prognostic Role of a Gene Signature from Tumorigenic Breast-Cancer Cells. N Engl J Med, 2007. 356(3): p. 217-226.
- 86. Stingl, J., P. Eirew, I. Ricketson, et al., Purification and unique properties of mammary epithelial stem cells. Nature, 2006. 439(7079): p. 993.
- Huang, F., K. Reeves, X. Han, et al., Identification of Candidate Molecular Markers Predicting Sensitivity in Solid Tumors to Dasatinib: Rationale for Patient Selection. Cancer Res, 2007. 67(5): p. 2226-2238.
- Cheang, M.C.U., D. Voduc, C. Bajdik, et al., Basal-Like Breast Cancer Defined by Five Biomarkers Has Superior Prognostic Value than Triple-Negative Phenotype. Clin Cancer Res, 2008. 14(5): p. 1368-1376.
- 89. Rakha, E., M. El-Sayed, A. Green, et al., Prognostic markers in triple-negative breast cancer. Cancer, 2007. 109(1): p. 25-32.
- 90. Hannemann, J., J. Hannemann, P. Kristel, et al., Molecular subtypes of breast cancer and amplification of topoisomerase II alpha: predictive role in dose intensive adjuvant chemotherapy. Br J Cancer, 2006. 95(10): p. 1334-41.
- Bauer KR, B. MR., C. CA., et al., Descriptive analysis of estrogen receptor (ER)negative, progesterone receptor (PR)-negative, and HER2-negative invasive breast cancer, the so-called triple-negative phenotype. Cancer, 2007. 109(9): p. 1721-1728.

- 92. Rouzier, R., J. Extra, J. Klijanienko, et al., Incidence and prognostic significance of complete axillary downstaging after primary chemotherapy in breast cancer patients with T1 to T3 tumors and cytologically proven axillary metastatic lymph nodes. J Clin Oncol, 2002. 20(5): p. 1304-1310.
- 93. Tan, D., C. Marchió, R. Jones, et al., Triple negative breast cancer: molecular profiling and prognostic impact in adjuvant anthracycline-treated patients. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2008. online access.
- 94. April F. Eichler, I.K.P.R.L.S.J.Y.J.W.H., Survival in patients with brain metastases from breast cancer. Cancer, 2008. 9999(9999): p. NA.
- Kyndi, M., F.B. Sorensen, H. Knudsen, et al., Estrogen Receptor, Progesterone Receptor, HER-2, and Response to Postmastectomy Radiotherapy in High-Risk Breast Cancer: The Danish Breast Cancer Cooperative Group. J Clin Oncol, 2008. 26(9): p. 1419-1426.
- 96. Nguyen, P.L., A.G. Taghian, M.S. Katz, et al., Breast Cancer Subtype Approximated by Estrogen Receptor, Progesterone Receptor, and HER-2 Is Associated With Local and Distant Recurrence After Breast-Conserving Therapy. J Clin Oncol, 2008: p. JCO.2007.14.4287.
- Sotiriou, C., P. Wirapati, S. Loi, et al., Gene Expression Profiling in Breast Cancer: Understanding the Molecular Basis of Histologic Grade To Improve Prognosis. J. Natl. Cancer Inst., 2006. 98(4): p. 262-272.
- 98. Gianni, A. and G. Bonadonna. Five-year results of the ranomized clinical trial comparing standard versus high-dose myeloablative chemotherapy in the adjuvant treatment of breast cancer with > 3 positive nodes (LN+). in Proceedings of the 37th Annual Meeting of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2001. San Francisco, CA.
- 99. Muss, H.B., S. Woolf, D. Berry, et al., Adjuvant Chemotherapy in Older and Younger Women With Lymph Node-Positive Breast Cancer. JAMA, 2005. 293(9): p. 1073-1081.
- 100. Tanner M, Isola J, Wiklund T, et al., Topoisomerase Ilalpha gene amplification predicts favorable treatment response to tailored and dose-escalated anthracycline-based adjuvant chemotherapy in HER-2/neu-amplified breast cancer: Scandinavian Breast Group Trial 9401. J Clin Oncol, 2006. 24(16): p. 2428-36.
- Kroger N, Milde-Langosch K, Riethdorf S, et al., Prognostic and predictive effects of immunohistochemical factors in high-risk primary breast cancer patients. Clin Cancer Res, 2006. 12(1): p. 159-68.
- 102. Pritchard, K.I., H. Messersmith, L. Elavathil, et al., HER-2 and Topoisomerase II As Predictors of Response to Chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol, 2008. 26(5): p. 736-744.
- 103. Thor AD, Berry DA, Budman DR, et al., erbB-2, p53, and efficacy of adjuvant therapy in lymph node-positive breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst., 1998. 90(18): p. 1346-60.
- 104. Paik S, Bryant J, Tan-Chiu E, et al., HER2 and choice of adjuvant chemotherapy for invasive breast cancer: National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project Protocol B-15. J Natl Cancer Inst., 2000. 92(24): p. 1991-8.
- 105. Nieto Y, Cagnoni PJ, Nawaz S, et al., Evaluation of the predictive value of Her-2/neu overexpression and p53 mutations in high-risk primary breast cancer patients treated with high-dose chemotherapy and autologous stem-cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol, 2000. 18(10): p. 2070-80.
- Hensel M, Schneeweiss A, Sinn HP, et al., P53 is the strongest predictor of survival in high-risk primary breast cancer patients undergoing high-dose chemotherapy with autologous blood stem cell support. Int J Cancer, 2002. 100(3): p. 290-6.
- 107. Gennari, A., M. Sormani, M. Puntoni, et al., A pooled analysis on the interaction between HER-2 expression and responsiveness of breast cancer to adjuvant chemotherapy. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2006. 100 (Suppl 1): p. Abstract 41.
- 108. Nieto Y, Vredenburgh JJ, Shpall EJ, et al., Phase II feasibility and pharmacokinetic study of concurrent administration of trastuzumab and high-dose chemotherapy in advanced HER2+ breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 2004. 10(21): p. 7136-43.
- 109. Troester, M.A., K.A. Hoadley, T. Sorlie, et al., Cell-Type-Specific Responses to Chemotherapeutics in Breast Cancer. Cancer Res, 2004. 64(12): p. 4218-4226.
- Bidard, F.C., R. Conforti, T. Boulet, et al., Does triple-negative phenotype accurately identify basal-like tumour? An immunohistochemical analysis based on 143 'triple-negative' breast cancers. Ann Oncol, 2007. 18(7): p. 1285-1286.
- Banerjee, S., J.S. Reis-Filho, S. Ashley, et al., Basal-like breast carcinomas: clinical outcome and response to chemotherapy. J Clin Pathol, 2006. 59(7): p. 729-735.

- 112. Hayes, D.F., A. Thor, L. Dressler, et al., HER2 predicts benefit from adjuvant paclitaxel after AC in node-positive breast cancer: CALGB 9344. J Clin Oncol (Meeting Abstracts), 2006. 24(18\_suppl): p. 510-.
- Jacquemier, J., F. Penault-Llorca, H. Mnif, et al., Identification of a basal-like subtype and comparative effect of epirubicin-based chemotherapy and sequential epirubicin followed by docetaxel chemotherapy in the PACS 01 breast cancer trial: 33 markers studied on tissue-microarrays (TMA). J Clin Oncol (Meeting Abstracts), 2006. 24(18\_suppl): p. 509-.
- 114. Loesch, D.M., F. Greco, J. O'Shaughnessy, et al., A randomized, multicenter phase III trial comparing doxorubicin + cyclophosphamide followed by paclitaxel or doxorubicin + paclitaxel followed by weekly paclitaxel as adjuvant therapy for highrisk breast cancer. J Clin Oncol (Meeting Abstracts), 2007. 25(18\_suppl): p. 517-.
- 115. Sikov WM, Fenton MA, Strenger R, et al., Preliminary recurrence and survival analysis of patients (pts) receiving neoadjuvant q4week carboplatin and weekly paclitaxel <u>+</u> weekly trastuzumab in resectable and locally advanced breast cancer: update of BrUOG BR-95. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2007. 106(Suppl. 1): p. 5063.
- 116. Rugo HS, Thomas ES, Lee RK, et al., Combination therapy with the novel epothilone B analog, ixabepilone, plus capecitabine has efficacy in ER/PR/HER2negative breast cancer resistant to anthracyclines and taxanes. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2007. 106(Suppl 1): p. 6069.
- 117. Cleator S, Heller W, and C. RC, Triple-negative breast cancer. Lancet oncology, 2007. 8: p. 235-44.
- 118. Eralp, Y., D. Derin, Y. Ozluk, et al., MAPK overexpression is associated with anthracycline resistance and increased risk for recurrence in patients with triplenegative breast cancer. Ann Oncol, 2008. 19(4): p. 669-674.
- 119. Ivanov, O., F. Chen, E. Wiley, et al., αB-crystallin is a novel predictor of resistance to neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2007. Online Access.
- 120. Pinilla, S., E. Honrado, D. Hardisson, et al., Caveolin-1 expression is associated with a basal-like phenotype in sporadic and hereditary breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2006. 99(1): p. 85.
- 121. Altundag, K., N. Bulut, O. Dizdar, et al., Albumin-Bound Paclitaxel, ABI-007 May Show Better Efficacy than Paclitaxel in Basal-Like Breast Cancers: Association

Between Caveolin-1 Expression and ABI-007. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2006. 100(3): p. 329.

- 122. Le Tourneau C, Dettwiler S, Laurence V, et al., 47% pathologic complete response rate to anthracyclines-based associated with high cyclophosphamide doses neoadjuvant chemotherapy in basal-like and triple negative breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2007. 106(Suppl 1): p. 4010.
- 123. Lakhani SR, Van De Vijver MJ, Jacquemier J, et al., The pathology of familial breast cancer: predictive value of immunohistochemical markers estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor, HER-2, and p53 in patients with mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. J Clin Oncol, 2002. 20(9): p. 2310-8.
- 124. Crook T, Brooks LA, Crossland S, et al., p53 mutation with frequent novel condons but not a mutator phenotype in BRCA1- and BRCA2-associated breast tumours.
  1998. 17(13): p. 1681-1689.
- 125. Lakhani, S., M. Van De Vijver, J. Jacquemier, et al., The pathology of familial breast cancer: predictive value of immunohistochemical markers estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor, HER-2, and p53 in patients with mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2. J Clin Oncol, 2002. 20(9): p. 2310-8.
- 126. Kandel MJ, Stadler Z, Masciari S, et al. Prevalence of BRCA1 mutations in triple negative breast cancer (BC). in Proceedings of the Annual Meeting of American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2006.
- 127. Tirkkonen, M., O. Johannsson, B.A. Agnarsson, et al., Distinct Somatic Genetic Changes Associated with Tumor Progression in Carriers of BRCA1 and BRCA2 Germ-line Mutations. Cancer Res, 1997. 57(7): p. 1222-1227.
- Wang, Z.C., M. Lin, L.-J. Wei, et al., Loss of Heterozygosity and Its Correlation with Expression Profiles in Subclasses of Invasive Breast Cancers. Cancer Res, 2004. 64(1): p. 64-71.
- 129. Tormey, D.C., V.E. Weinberg, J.F. Holland, et al., A randomized trial of five and three drug chemotherapy and chemoimmunotherapy in women with operable node positive breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 1983. 1: p. 138-45.
- 130. Turner NC, Reis-Filho JS, Russell AM, et al., BRCA1 dysfunction in sporadic basallike breast cancer. Oncogene, 2007. 26(14): p. 2126-32.
- 131. Kennedy RD, Quinn JE, Mullan PB, et al., The role of BRCA1 in the cellular response to chemotherapy. J Natl Cancer Inst, 2004. 96(22): p. 1659-68.

- 132. Leong CO, Vidnovic N, DeYoung MP, et al., The p63/p73 network mediates chemosensitivity to cisplatin in a biologically defined subset of primary breast cancers. J Clin Invest, 2007. 117(5): p. 1370-80.
- 133. Garber JE, Richardson A, and H. LN, Neoadjuvant cisplatin in triple-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2006. 100: p. Abstract 3074.
- 134. Torrisi, R., A. Balduzzi, R. Ghisini, et al., Tailored preoperative treatment of locally advanced triple negative (hormone receptor negative and HER2 negative) breast cancer with epirubicin, cisplatin, and infusional fluorouracil followed by weekly paclitaxel. Cancer Chemotherapy and Pharmacology.
- 135. Chappuis PO, Goffin J, Wong N, et al., A significant response to neoadjuvant related breast cancer 2 / BRCA1 chemotherapy in. J Med Gen, 2002. 39: p. 608-610.
- 136. Petit, T., M. Wilt, J. Rodier, et al., Are BRCA1 mutations a predictive factor for anthracycline-based neoadjuvant chemotherapy response in triple-negative breast cancers? J Clin Oncol (Meeting Abstracts), 2007. 25(18\_suppl): p. 580-.
- 137. John R. Goffin, P.O.C.L.R.B.N.W.J.-S.B.N.H.A.-J.P.J.B.W.D.F., Impact of germline <I>BRCA1</I> mutations and overexpression of p53 on prognosis and response to treatment following breast carcinoma. Cancer, 2003. 97(3): p. 527-536.
- Rennert, G., S. Bisland-Naggan, O. Barnett-Griness, et al., Clinical Outcomes of Breast Cancer in Carriers of BRCA1 and BRCA2 Mutations. N Engl J Med, 2007. 357(2): p. 115-123.
- 139. www.clinicaltrials.gov. 24.04.2008 [cited 2008 24.04.]; Available from: www.clinicaltrials.gov.
- 140. Farmer, H., N. McCabe, C.J. Lord, et al., Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy. Nature, 2005. 434(7035): p. 917.
- 141. Nicholson, R.I., J.M.W. Gee, and M.E. Harper, EGFR and cancer prognosis. European Journal of Cancer, 2001. 37(Supplement 4): p. 9.
- 142. Carey LA, Mayer E, Marcom PK, et al., TBCRC 001: EGFR inhibition with cetuximab in metastatic triple negative (basal-like) breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2007. 106(Suppl 1): p. 351.
- 143. O'Shaughnessy J, Weckstein DJ, Vukelja SJ, et al., Preliminary results of a randomized phase II study of weekly irinotecan/carboplatin with or without cetuximab in patients with metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2007. 106(Suppl 1): p. 308.

- 144. Huang, F., K. Reeves, X. Han, et al., Identification of candidate molecular markers predicting sensitivity in solid tumors to dasatinib: rationale for patient selection. Cancer Res, 2007. 67(5): p. 2226-38.
- 145. Finn, R., J. Dering, C. Ginther, et al., Dasatinib, an orally active small molecule inhibitor of both the src and abl kinases, selectively inhibits growth of basaltype/"triple-negative" breast cancer cell lines growing in vitro. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, 2007. 105(3): p. 319.
- 146. Burstein, H.J., A.D. Elias, H.S. Rugo, et al., Phase II Study of Sunitinib Malate, an Oral Multitargeted Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor, in Patients With Metastatic Breast Cancer Previously Treated With an Anthracycline and a Taxane. J Clin Oncol, 2008. 26(11): p. 1810-1816.
- 147. Yang, W.-T., M. Dryden, K. Broglio, et al., Mammographic features of triple receptor-negative primary breast cancers in young premenopausal women. Breast Cancer Research and Treatment.
- Kuhl CK, Schrading S, Bieling HB, et al., MRI for diagnosis of pure ductal carcinoma in situ: a prospective observational study. The Lancet, 2007. 370 (9586): p. 485-92.

# 6. Acknowledgements

I thank all patients who participated in the trial and consented to give their data. I thank all investigators for treating the patients and reporting their data and all pathologists who provided tumor material of study patients to the central tumor bank.

I thank Prof. Dr. Ulrike Nitz for providing an opportunity to work on this interesting area of breast cancer research, for teachings years and successful cooperative ideas resulting in several clinical important projects.

Furthermore I thank Dorothea Schndowski, Dr. Svjetlana Mohrmann, Iris Renner, Dr. Frank Werner and Dr. Gerhart Schütt for their support within the West german Study Group and the department of gynaecology and obstetrics and team of pathologists (PD Dr. Raihana Diallo-Danebrock, Dr. Evelyn Ting, Prof. Dr. Christoph Poremba, Prof. Dr. Arndt Hartmann, Dr. Peter Wild, Prof. Dr. Helmut Erich Gabbert) for their support within the department of pathology of the University of Duesseldorf. I thank Dr. Alexander Herr for his statistical support.

I thank also Prof. Nadia Harbeck and Dr. Ronald Kates for their scientific and organizational input during this work.

I would particularly like to thank my parents, family members and friends for their endurance, understanding and help during this work.

My particular thanks is owed to my deceased teacher Regina Manitz and her husband Prof. Gerhard Schäfer for their great role in my education, formation and decision to study medicine.

#### 7. Curriculum vitae

Oleg Gluz Born in Lugansk (Ukraine) 15.12.1981 Ganghofer Strasse 37 40474 Dusseldorf Germany Tel.: +49 (0) 211 6396493 E-mail: oleg.gluz@uni-duesseldorf.de

Education	
Middle School Lugansk/Ukraine	1988-1996
Emigration to Germany	09/1996
Secondary School Kahla/Thueringia	1997-2000
Heinrich Heine University School of Medicine	2001-2007
Dusseldorf, Germany	
State examination 2007: Note: excellent (1,5)	
Residency (Gynecology) City Hospital of Krefeld	2006-2007
Breast Cancer and Gynecology Fellowship, Breast Centr	e
Niederrhein (Academic hospital of the University of Aach	en) 06/2007-present
Scientific assistance at the West German Study Group	01/2002-present
Honors and Awards	
Student's Surgical Oncology Fellowship (National Cance	r Institute of Ukraine, Kiev) 2005
Top Ten Presentation Award of the Meeting of the Trans	lational Research Group
(TRAFO) 18.05.2007	
Scientific Award of the Annual Meeting Rhine-Westphalia	a Society of Gynaecology and
Obstetrics 23.04.2008	

Grant of ASCO-EORTC-NCI for 2008 Annual Meeting on Molecular Markers in Cancer: From Hypothesis to Product: Diagnostic Development Tutorial, Hollywood, Florida, 30.10.-1.11.2008

**Professional Society Memberships** 

American Society of Clinical Oncology 2006 to present German Society of Senology 2006 to present EORTC Pathobiology group 2008 to present

### Publications

1. Kroeger N, Frick M, Gluz O, et al. Randomized trial of single versus tandem high-dose chemotherapy (STAMP V) followed by autologous stem cell transplantation in patients with chemo-sensitive metastatic breast cancer. J Clin Oncol Aug 20;24(24):3919-26

2. Diallo-Danebrock R, Ting E, Gluz O, et al. C-kit expression in high-risk breast cancer subgroup treated with high-dose or conventional dose-dense chemotherapy. Verh Dtsch Ges Pathol. 2006;90:177-85.

3. Diallo-Danebrock R, Ting E, Gluz O, et al. Prognostic and predictive impact of protein expression profiling in high risk breast cancer patients treated with high-dose or conventional dose-dense chemotherapy.

Clin Cancer Res. 2007 Jan 15;13(2 Pt 1):488-97.

4. Gluz O, Nitz U, Harbeck N, et al.

Triple negative high risk breast cancer derive particular benefit from dose intensification of adjuvant chemotherapy: Results of randomized WSG AM-01 trial. Ann Oncol. 2008 May;19(5):861-70.

5. Gluz O, Wild P, Heiler R, et al.

Nuclear Karyopherin  $\alpha$ 2 expression predicts poor survival in patients with advanced breast cancer irrespective of treatment intensity. Int J Cancer. 2008 Sep 15;123(6):1433-8.

## Congress presentations

1. Nitz U, Mohrmann S, Gluz O, Schütt G, Werner F, Bender HG.

WSG-AM01 Tandem Hochdosischemotherapie (HDC) mit autologer Stammzell-

transplantation versus dosisdichte konventionelle Chemotherapie mit G-CSF beim

Hochrisiko-Mammakarzinom: Prognostische Faktoren für das

Langzeitüberleben

24. Jahrestagung der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Senologie. Onkologie 27 (suppl. 2) 2004 \*V45.

2. Nitz U, Gluz O, Mohrmann S, Werner F, Brandt M, Poremba C, Diallo R.

Tandem high-dose chemotherapy versus dose-dense conventional chemotherapy in highrisk breast cancer: predictors of long-term outcome.

SABCS 2004: Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2004 88 (suppl. 1) \*2077 3. Schütt G, Mohrmann S, Kuhn W, Huober J, Bornträger J, Möbus V, Harbeck N, Bergmann T, Gluz O, Nitz U.

Age-associated incidence of chemotherapy-related amenorrhea (CRA) and results of the second toxicity analysis of a WSG/AGO-Mamma Intergroup Phase III trial AM02 "Ec-

>Doc" for patients with primary breast cancer and 1-3 positive axillary lymph nodes. St Gallen Consensus Conference 2005

4. Mohrmann S, Kroger N, Frick M, Gluz O, Metzner B, Jackisch C, Ko Y, Eimermacher H, Zander A, Nitz U.

Prognostic factors for the survival of the patients with chemosensitive metastatic breast cancer (MBC) received single or tandem high dose chemotherapy (HDC) with

haematopoietic stem cell support-results from a multicenter phase III trial.

St Gallen Consensus Conference 2005

5. Kroger N, Frick M, Gluz O, Metzner B, Jackisch C, Ko Y, Eimermacher H, Meier C, Lohrmann H, Hänel M, Bodenstein H, Neubauer A, Ehninger G, Schmoll H, Kolbe K, Zander A, Nitz U.

Randomized trial of single versus tandem high-dose chemotherapy (STAMP V) followed by autologous stem cell transplantation in patients with chemosensitive metastatic breast cancer. European Bone and Marrow Transplantation Meeting 2005 Bone Marrow Transplantation. 2005;35 (suppl. 2):S51, \*O267 6. Nitz U, Huober J, Lisboa B, Harbeck N, Jaspers V, Schütt G, Mohrmann S, Gluz O, Kuhn W.

EC-Doc Studie der WSG/AGO: sequentielle taxanehaltige Chemotherapie versus 6 x CEF bei Patienten mit primären Mammakarzinom (PMC) mit 1-3 befallenen Lymphknoten – eine prospektiv randomisierte Phase III Studie

Senologie 2005 2: \*180

7. Nitz U, Reimer T, Conrad B, Potenberg J, Elling D, Wiest W Schütt G, Mohrmann S, von Minckwitz G.

Statusreport der ICE Studie: Ibandronat mit/ohne Capecitabine bei älteren Patientinnen mit Mammakarzinom. Eine multizentrische prospektiv randomisierte Intergroup Studie der WSG, AGO, GBG und NOGGO

Senologie 2005 2: \*181

8. Gluz O, Ting E, Mohrmann S, Schütt G, Poremba C, Nitz U, Diallo R.

Basal-like subtype of breast carcinoma predicts poor clinical outcome in patients with high-risk breast cancer treated with high-dose (HD) or dose-dense chemotherapy: Results of multivariate analysis from the WSG-AM-01 phase III trial.

13<sup>th</sup> European Cancer Conference 2005 Paris EJC Suppl. 3 (vol. 2) \*O279 oral presentation

9. Diallo R, Ting E, Gluz O, Mohrmann S, Schuett G, Rody A, Geddert H, Schaefer KL, Gabbert HE, Nitz U, Poremba C.

C-kit expression in high-risk breast cancer treated with high-dose (HD) or conventional dose-dense chemotherapy: results of multivariate analysis from the WSG-AM-01 phase III trial.

SABCS 2005: Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2005 94 (suppl. 1) \*3026

10. Samuelkutty S, Gluz O, Mohrmann S, Hille S, Zwiefel K, Schuett G, Nitz U.

Chemotherapy-induced amenorrhea (CIA) in patients treated with adjuvant CEF/CMF or EC/docetaxel: analysis from a phase III randomized EC/Doc Trial.

SABCS 2005: Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2005 94 (suppl. 1) \*2063

11. Nitz UA, Gluz O, Herr A, Ting E, Mohrmann S, Frick M, Jackisch, C. Poremba, W. Lindemann, Diallo-Danebrock R

Retrospective analysis of WSG AM01 tandem high dose chemotherapy trial in high risk primary breast cancer: A hypothesis generating study. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2006 ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings Part I. Vol 24, No. 18S (June 20 Supplement), 2006: \*665 12. Herr A, Gluz O, Ting E, Mohrmann S, Werner F, Schuett G, Schmutzler R, Poremba C, Nitz U, Danebrock R.

Biological characteristics in triple negative high risk breast cancer and their clinical implications. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2006 ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings Part

I. Vol 24, No. 18S (June 20 Supplement), 2006: \*20032

13. Hüttemann U, Warm M, Schütt G, Mohrmann S, Steinmetz T, Schumacher C, Gluz O, Werner F, Nitz U.

Die ersten Ergebnisse der ARA Plus Studie- Chemotherapie bei Mamma-Ca.

Patientinnen mit und ohne Darbepoetin alfa (Aranesp®) – Analyse der Anämie und

schweren unerwünschten Ereignissen (SAE's). 205. Tagung der Niederrheinisch-

Westfälischen Gesellschaft für Gynäkologie und Geburtshilfe, Münster

14. Hüttemann U, Schütt G, Gluz O, Mohramnn S, Liedtke B, Riemer T, von Minckwitz G, Nitz U.

Die ICE-Studie: Ibandronate mit/ohne Capecitabine bei älteren Patienten mit Mammakarzinom. Eine prospektiv randomisierte Intergroup Studie der WSG, AGO, GBG und NOGGO. 205. Tagung der Niederrheinisch-Westfälischen Gesellschaft für Gynäkologie und Geburtshilfe, Münster

15. Samuelkutty S, Gluz O, Schütt G, Mohrmann S, Hüttemann U, Jaspers V, Huober J, Harbeck N, Kuhn W, Nitz U.

EC-Doc Studie der WSG/AGO: sequentielle taxanehaltige Chemotherapie versus 6 x CEF bei Patienten mit primären Mammakarzinom mit 1-3 befallenen Lymphknoten – eine prospektiv randomisierte Phase drei Studie. 205. Tagung der Niederrheinisch-

Westfälischen Gesellschaft für Gynäkologie und Geburtshilfe, Münster

16. Nitz, U.; Danebrock, R.; Herr, A.; Ting, E.; Mohrmann, S.; Werner, F.; Lindemann, W.; Poremba, C.; Gluz, O.:

WSG AM01-Studie: stammzellgestützte Hochdosischemotherapie (HD) : Update und Analyse der Effektivität bei molekularen Subtypen

Senologie 2006 (3) FV 37

17. Mohrmann, S.; Karan, D.; Schütt, G.; Gluz, O.; Bender, H. G.; Nitz, U.:

Bedeutung der Tumormarkerbestimmung bei Patientinnen mit Hochrisiko-

Mammakarzinom im Rahmen der WSG AM 01 Studie.

Senologie 2006 (3) FV 10

18. Diallo-Danebrock, R.; Herr, A.; Ting, E.; Gluz, O.; Mohrmann, S.; Gabbert, H. E.; Nitz, U.; Poremba, C.:

C-Kit Expression in einer Hochrisiko-Mammakrzinom Subgruppe aus der WSG AM-01 Studie.

Senologie 2006 (3) FV 38

19. Gluz O, Harbeck N, Kates RE, Schmitt M, Mengele K, Royer H-D, Eckstein N, Mohrmann S, Ting E, Poremba C, Nitz U, Diallo-Danebrock R..

YB-1 protein correlates with high-risk tumor characteristics and response to high dose chemotherapy in breast cancer.

SABCS 2006: Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2006 100 (suppl. 1) \*3035 20. Diallo-Danebrock R, Ting E, Gluz O, Herr A, Mohrmann S, Geddert H, Rody A, Gabbert HE, Nitz U, Poremba C.

Prognostic and predictive impact of protein expression profiling in high risk breast patients treated with high-dose or conventional dose-dense chemotherapy.

SABCS 2006: Breast Cancer Research and Treatment 2006 100 (suppl. 1) \*3039 21. Gluz O, Gluz O, Kates R, Schmitt M, Mengele K, Royer HD, Schütt G, Mohrmann S, Ting E, Diallo-Danebrock R, Kiechle-Bahat M, Nitz U, Harbeck N. YB-1 expression and effectiveness of dose-intensification in high-risk breast cancer

2007 ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings Part I. Vol 25, No. 18S (June 20 Supplement): \*563

24. K. Ziegler, M. Warm, C. Oberhoff, T. Reimer, S. Mohrmann, C. Schumacher, O. Gluz, U. Nitz, I. Zuna, F. Werner

Second interims analysis of the ARA Plus study: Breast Cancer (BC) adjuvant chemotherapy (CT) with and without darbepoetin- alpha, analysis of serious adverse events.

2007 ASCO Annual Meeting Proceedings Part I. Vol 25, No. 18S (June 20 Supplement): \*564

25. P. Wild, Gluz O, Diallo-Danebrock R, Ting E, Herr A, Mohrmann S, Geddert H, H.E. Gabbert, U. Nitz, C. Poremba, H. Moch, A. Hartmann

Nuclear Karyopherin alpha 2 expression predicts poor survival in patients with advanced breast cancer

AACR Meeting Abstracts, Apr 2008; 2008: 977.

26. Gluz O, Kates R, Schmitt M, Mengele K, Royer HD, Mohrmann S, Schütt G, Ting E, Diallo-Danebrock R, Kiechle-Bahat M, Poremba C, Nitz U, Harbeck N.

Expression von YB-1 Protein und Effektivität der Dosis-Intensivierung beim Hochrisiko-Mammakarzinom Deutscher Krebskongress 2008 \*PE512.

27. Gluz O, P. Wild, Diallo-Danebrock R, Ting E, Herr A, Mohrmann S, Geddert H, H.E.

Gabbert, U. Nitz, C. Poremba, A. Hartmann

KPNA2 status as predictive marker in G2 tumors: hypothesis-building study".

207. Tagung der Niederrheinisch-Wesfälischen Gesellschaft für Gynäkologie und Geburtshilfe.

Düsseldorf, 14.11.2008

Oleg Gluz

#### 8. Summary

Purpose: This work evaluates the prognostic and predictive impact of protein expression of various molecular markers in addition to conventional prognostic factors in high-risk breast cancer (HRBC) patients from a randomized trial. Patients received different chemotherapy dose-intensification strategies. The molecular classification of breast cancer should be evaluated in this selected population.

Methods: 403 patients were randomly assigned to dose-dense conventional chemotherapy with 4 cycles of  $E_{90}C_{600}$  followed by 3 cycles of  $C_{600}M_{40}F_{600}q_{2w}$  (DD) or a rapidly cycled tandem high-dose regimen with 2 cycles  $E_{90}C_{600}q_{2w}$  followed by 2 cycles of  $E_{90}C_{3000}$ Thiotepa<sub>400</sub>q<sub>3w</sub> (HD). Paraffin-embedded tumors from 236 patients were available for retrospective central pathology review (116 HD /120 DD). Expression of 34 molecular markers was evaluated immunohistochemically using tissue microarrays. Cluster groups were analyzed by unsupervised k-clustering (k=5). Results were correlated with follow-up data and treatment effects by proportional hazard Cox regression models (including interaction analysis).

Results: After a median follow-up of 61.7 months, 5-year event-free (EFS) as well as overall survival (OS) rates for the 236 patients were significantly better in the HD arm: EFS: 62% vs. 41%; OS: 76 % vs. 61%. 5 stable molecular subgroups could be identified by cluster analysis using 24 proteins: luminal A (27%) and B (12%), multiple marker negative (27%), Her-2/neu (21%) and basal-like (13%). Basal-like and Her-2/neu subtypes had significant inferior survival rates than luminal subtypes. Basal-like and Her-2/neu subtypes, but not luminal subtypes had a significant benefit from HDC in terms of EFS and OS. In multivariate analysis, HD, tumor size <2 cm and positive PR, as conventional factors and luminal A/B subtypes as new marker were associated with favorable outcome. Interaction analysis showed that triple negativity (ER/PR/HER-2/neu) and G3 status of tumors, but not basal-like cluster group predicted benefit from HD. Conclusion: For the first time molecular subtypes of BC could be reconfirmed in the HRBC population. Tandem HD improves both EFS and OS in HRBC. This therapy effect may be partly attributable to superior efficacy in the subgroup of triple negative tumors and /or G3. Patients with basal-like and Her-2/neu subtypes derived the most benefit from HD, compared to luminal subgroups, but the predictive value was inferior compared to "conventional" factors such as triple-negative subtype or G3 status.

86